
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Monday 11 September 2017 
7.00 pm 

Courtyard Room - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Caroline Needham (Chair) 
Councillor Alan De'Ath 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery 
 

Councillor Caroline Ffiske (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Marcus Ginn 
 

Co-optees 

Eleanor Allen, London Diocesan Board for Schools 
Nandini Ganesh, Parentsactive Representative 
Philippa O'Driscoll, Westminster Diocesan Education Service Representative 
Nadia Taylor, Parent Governor Representative 
Vic Daniels, Parent Governor Representative 
Matt Jenkins, Teacher Representative 
 

 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: David Abbott 

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 020 8753 2063 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 

Date Issued: 01 September 2017 
 

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Children and Education Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

11 September 2017 
 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  1 - 6 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2017. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 There is more information on declarations on the next page. 
 

 

4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 To invite questions from members of the public. 
 
Anyone is welcome to come and ask questions without giving notice but 
if you have complex questions you can submit them in advance to 
ensure a more detailed answer. Contact: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 

5.   DIRECTOR'S UPDATE  7 - 17 

 This report provides an overview of recent developments in Children’s 
Services. 

 

 

6.   CABINET MEMBER'S VERBAL UPDATE  
 

 

7.   IMPROVING TRANSITIONS - TASK GROUP FINAL REPORT  18 - 40 

 This report makes recommendations to improve the experience for 
young disabled people transitioning from social care services for 
children, to social care services for adults. 
 

 

8.   YOUNG PEOPLE'S MENTAL HEALTH - TRANSFORMATION PLAN 
UPDATE  

41 - 58 

 This report updates the Committee on planned improvements to mental 
health services for young people and progress on the implementation of 
the recommendations of the CAMHS taskforce. 
 

 

9.   FOSTERING AND ADOPTION  59 - 65 

 This report provides an overview of the work of the Fostering and 
Adoption Service. 
 

 

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


10.   WORK PROGRAMME  66 - 67 

 The Committee is asked to give consideration to its work programme. 
 

 

11.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

 The next meeting is scheduled for 13 November 2017. 

 
 

 
 
More information on declarations of interest 
 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, whether or not it is 
entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any other significant interest which they 
consider should be declared in the public interest, they should declare the existence and, 
unless it is a sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature of the 
interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or as soon as it becomes 
apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in attendance and speak, any 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest or other significant interest may also make 
representations, give evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote 
taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and speak, then the 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should withdraw from the meeting whilst the 
matter is under consideration. Councillors who have declared other significant interests 
should also withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation in the 
matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may give rise to a perception of a 
conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a dispensation to that effect 
has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions and Standards Committee. 
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

. London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Children and Education Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

Minutes 
 

Monday 12 June 2017 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Caroline Needham (Chair), Alan De'Ath, 
Elaine Chumnery, Caroline Ffiske (Vice-Chair) and Marcus Ginn 
 
Co-opted members: Eleanor Allen (London Diocesan Board for Schools), Nadia 
Taylor (Parent Governor Representative), Vic Daniels (Parent Governor 
Representative) and Matt Jenkins (Teacher Representative) 
 
Other Councillors:  
Councillor Sue Macmillan (Cabinet Member for Children and Education) 
 
Officers:  
Clare Chamberlain (Executive Director of Children’s Services), Steve Miley (Director 
of Family Services), Richard Stanley (Deputy Director of Education), and David 
Abbott (Scrutiny Manager) 
 
Guests: 
Claud Steven (Quality Development Adviser from the National Resource Centre for 
Supplementary Education) 
 
 

1. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS  
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That Councillor Caroline Ffiske be re-appointed as Vice Chair for the 2017-18 
Municipal Year. 

2. That the following co-opted members be re-appointed for the 2017-18 
Municipal Year: 

 Eleanor Allen, London Diocesan Board for Schools 

 Nandini Ganesh, Parentsactive Representative 

 Philippa O'Driscoll, Westminster Diocesan Education Service 
Representative 

 Nadia Taylor, Parent Governor Representative 

 Vic Daniels, Parent Governor Representative 

 Matt Jenkins, Teacher Representative 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

2. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED 
The minutes of the previous meeting, held on 24 April 2017, were approved and 
signed by the Chair. 
 

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for lateness were received from Councillor Marcus Ginn. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Nandini Ganesh and Philippa O’Driscoll. 
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
The were no public questions. 
 

6. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S UPDATE  
 
 
Clare Chamberlain, presented the report and highlighted the following items: 
 
The Children and Social Work Bill received Royal Assent – the bill contained a 
raft of new measures designed to boost support for children and young people, 
including: 

 Increasing the age for which local authorities were responsible for Care 
Leavers up to 25 years old. This was a welcome change but did place 
additional financial burdens on the Council. 

 The Establishment of a Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel - 
Safeguarding partners in local authority areas must now make arrangements 
for partners, and relevant agencies to work together in exercising their 
safeguarding functions and promoting the welfare of children. Cases with the 
most serious implications for practice would be reviewed at the national level. 

 Regulation of Social Workers – A new organisation, Social Work England, 
was being created to take over from the HCPC as the profession’s regulator. 

 
Steve Miley presented the year-end summary of Family Services Data in section 
4.4 of the report – highlighting that while there had been greater demand on the front 
end of the service because of an increase in referrals, by using systemic practice 
they had kept numbers of children on the child protection list down. He also noted 
that since bringing foster carer recruitment back in-house the service had recruited 
24 new foster carers - the first time more than 15 foster carers had been recruited 
within a year. 
 
Councillor Marcus Ginn asked if there was an opportunity to get parents who wanted 
to adopt involved in fostering. Steve Miley said they tended to be different cohorts – 
in general terms adopters were couples that had not been able to have children of 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

their own and wanted to provide a lifelong commitment to a child. Foster carers on 
the other hand tended to be people who had already had their own family and were 
committed to giving something back by taking children and young people who 
needed short term support. Councillor Ginn asked what the average ages of adopted 
and fostered children were. Steve Miley said that children under five were most likely 
to be adopted – foster children tended to be in the 5-17 range. 
 
Eleanor Allen asked if it was still true that a foster carer looking to adopt would lose 
their foster allowance. Clare Chamberlain responded that the Council had a policy of 
‘no detriment’, ensuring that the same allowance would be paid for an appropriate 
period. 
 
Nadia Taylor asked what ‘Section 47’ referred to. Steve Miley said it was when a 
professional (teacher, nurse etc.) tells Family Services about a potential child abuse 
case. Family Services would then meet with the police and decide if there should be 
an investigation. ‘Section 47’ referred to section 47 of the Children Act 1989 – they 
were more widely known as ‘Child Protection Inquiries’. 
 
Matt Jenkins asked if there was a reason behind the number of Child Protection 
Inquiries (Section 47s) increasing so dramatically while Child Protection List 
numbers decreased. Steve Miley noted that the service had a practice lead who was 
looking at around 20 of the cases behind the data to understand the root causes and 
produce recommendations for changes to practice. 
 
Matt Jenkins asked if there was opportunity for more training within schools that 
could reduce the number of Child Protection Inquiry referrals. Steve Miley said the 
concerns raised were appropriate things for Family Services to know even if they 
weren’t serious enough to be child protection cases. However, the service would 
soon be piloting the Leeds City Council approach involving more detailed 
discussions with referrers to determine whether it was necessary to make a formal 
referral. Leeds had dramatically reduced their numbers using this method, while still 
being able to gather vital intelligence on families who needed additional support. 
Matt Jenkins thought this would be a positive improvement for schools and asked 
when it would be happening. Steve Miley said a pilot with two schools would be 
running immediately and the service was meeting with Professor David Thorpe about 
the Leeds implementation and how to roll it out in H&F. 
 
Councillor Alan De’Ath noted that from his personal experience there was often 
significant travel time to child protection meetings and professionals sometimes 
couldn’t attend due to other commitments. He asked if officers had considered using 
Skype or other video conferencing technologies to encourage better attendance. 
Clare Chamberlain said video-conferencing was being considered but it was in the 
early stages. 
 

7. CABINET MEMBERS UPDATE  
 
The Chair welcomed Councillor Sue Macmillan back as Cabinet Member for Children 
and Education following maternity leave. 
 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Macmillan updated the Committee on her recent activities as Cabinet 
Member: 

 She visited a number of local Children's Centres to discuss the new Integrated 
Family Support Service. 

 She met with the headteacher of Brackenbury Primary School to discuss cuts 
to school funding. 

 She met with the headteachers of Jack Tizard and Woodlane Special Schools 
to discuss SEND issues. 

 Following some recent serious case reviews, where H&F was not the primary 
authority, it was noticed that children under Child in Need plans did not have 
the same rigorous checks and procedures as those under Child Protection 
Plans when children were transferring boroughs. In response to this the 
Cabinet Member wrote to the minister for Children and Families to ask for a 
review of the legislation. Following the election results last Thursday this issue 
would be raised again with the new Minister once appointed. 

 
8. SUPPLEMENTARY SCHOOLS IN H&F  

 
The Chair welcomed Claud Steven, Quality Development Adviser from the National 
Resource Centre for Supplementary Education (NRCSE), to the meeting to speak 
about supplementary schools in the borough and how the centre supported them. 
 
Claud Steven addressed the Committee and informed members that the NRCSE 
was committed to the support of effective, community-led, supplementary education 
that complemented the learning of children and young people attending mainstream 
schools. The centre provided resources for supplementary schools to establish 
themselves as safe places to send children. Advisors visited the schools to ensure 
their paper-work was up to date (insurance, safety checks etc.) and that good 
practice was being observed. 
 
The Chair asked Claud to speak about the supplementary schools that operated in 
the borough. Claud Stevens highlighted the following local schools that had recently 
completed the centre’s three-day Good Management Course: 

 Sudanese Association – based in White City and run a small group of classes 
teaching English and Maths. 

 Westpoint - Community Supplementary School 

 Glory House Education Centre 

 Iranian Association – based in Acton High School and serving a large group of 
young people. 

 Lido School  

 Riana Sudanese School – a well-established school based in Hounslow 
running English and Maths classes and a popular Youth Club. 

 People Unite – runs a popular homework club. 

 The Leaf Education School 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery asked if it was known how many supplementary schools 
operated in the borough. She then noted that as a parent she would have expected 
these schools to have safeguarding policies in place as standard but that didn’t seem 
to be the case. Richard Stanley said this was a national issue – supplementary 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

schools were volunteer-based so were not subject to the same requirements as 
professional organisations. There was no requirement for these groups to have 
safeguarding policies or DBS checks for ‘staff’ for example. That was why it was 
important for organisations like the NRCSE to provide support and make sure they 
were safe. The Local Safeguarding Children Board had also looked at 
supplementary schools and were considering how to improve practice across the 
sector. 
 
Matt Jenkins asked if the content of the teaching in supplementary schools was 
known – was it based on the national curriculum. Claud Stevens said many schools 
focused on English, Maths, and Science – in addition to languages and cultural 
teaching. Matt Jenkins asked if the content was monitored. Claud Stevens said they 
looked to see if it met national standards but they were not carrying out formal 
inspections. He added that the NRCSE had a Prevent coordinator to look at potential 
areas of radicalisation and they asked schools if they were aware of the Prevent 
agenda and the associated local authority training. Richard Stanley noted that the 
Council’s Prevent officer also has a register of known supplementary schools in the 
borough and checks in on them. 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery said she would like to know how many supplementary 
schools there were in the borough and they should be made to attend safeguarding 
training. Steve Miley said the Council can’t compel these organisations to attend 
training – we can only make an offer to them. 
 
Councillor Caroline Ffiske suggested the Council’s website could have a list of local 
supplementary schools and a form of accreditation or endorsement showing that 
they had completed safeguarding training. 
 
Councillor Caroline Needham said she had discussed some of these issues with 
Claud prior to the meeting and they agreed that the Mayor would hold a small 
ceremony in the Mayor’s Parlour to reward supplementary schools that had achieved 
their NRCSE accreditation. The Council would be arranging autism awareness 
training for supplementary school staff. Claud would also be meeting with the Young 
Hammersmith and Fulham Foundation to explore opportunities for the young people 
at supplementary schools. 
 
The Chair asked what the Council could do to support supplementary schools. Claud 
Stevens said he would like the Council to encourage mainstream schools to support 
them – particularly by providing buildings at a reasonable rate. 
 
Councillor Marcus Ginn asked if the schools received public funding. Claud Stevens 
said they were funded by voluntary contributions and fees. 
 
Vic Daniels noted that while there was no formal oversight of many of these schools, 
some operated from premises owned by the local authority – he suggested looking 
at the school’s lettings policy to ensure the relevant standards were met. Claud 
Stevens added that many schools came to the NRCSE for accreditation – they 
wanted to operate in safe environment. 
 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

The Chair said conversations would continue between the NRCSE and the Council 
to ensure that young people in the borough were being offered the best possible 
opportunities. The Council would also explore opportunities for contact and support 
from local organisations like the Lyric Theatre to build beneficial relationships. 
Richard Stanley said the Education Department would also look to encourage 
relationships between supplementary and mainstream schools. 
 

9. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery asked that an item on the potential dangers of young 
children’s addiction to smart phones be added to the agenda – including constructive 
ways to support parents. Officers suggested research was needed and a briefing 
note was more appropriate than a full report. 
 
The Chair suggested that the Skills for Young People item could be the basis for a 
joint task group with the Youth Council. Councillors asked that the group included the 
Council’s commissioned Youth Club and personal impact skills (interview skills). The 
task group would start in Autumn. 
 
The Chair asked for the Chief Executive of the Young Hammersmith and Fulham 
Foundation to be invited to speak about their work supporting young people by 
facilitating grant funding for community groups and charitable organisations. 
 
Members asked for an item on home schooling in the borough. 
 
Matt Jenkins noted that the NUT had done a lot of work around the Workload of 
Teachers item and could be invited to present their findings. 
 
The Chair asked that the item on Permanency and Adoption be prioritised. 
 

10. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
The Committee noted that the next meeting would be held on 11 September 2017. 
 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 8.30 pm 

 
 
 
Chair   

 
 
Contact officer David Abbott 

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 020 8753 2063 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 6



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 

POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

11 September 2017 
 

 

DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES UPDATE 
 

Report of the Director of Children’s Services – Steve Miley 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For information  
Key Decision: No  
 

Wards Affected: All  
 

Accountable Director: Steve Miley, Director of Children’s Services 
 

Report Author: Steve Miley, Director of 
Children’s Services 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0208 753 2300 
E-mail: Steve.Miley@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report provides a brief overview of recent developments of relevance to 

the Children’s Services department for members of the Policy and 
Accountability Committee to consider. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. The Committee is asked to review and comment upon the contents of this 

report. 
 
3. MANAGEMENT CHANGES 
 
3.1  The ending of tri-borough arrangements and the Hammersmith and Fulham 

‘Moving On’ project will see the creation of a Hammersmith and Fulham 
Children's Services Department as a separate entity from the other two 
boroughs. It is proposed that some services remain delivered as shared 
services across the three Local Authorities such as Fostering and Adoption, 
the Emergency Duty Team and the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH); 
formal decisions will be made over the next few months.  

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Steve.Miley@lbhf.gov.uk


3.2     The Executive Director of Children Services for the three Local Authorities, 
Claire Chamberlain stepped down on the 1st August and is now the Director of 
the Centre for Systemic Social Work. The Centre oversees the national 
project run by the three boroughs on behalf of the DfE to promote systemic 
practice across the country.  

 
3.3     Melissa Caslake has been appointed as Director of Children's Services (DCS) 

for the bi- borough and Steve Miley has been appointed as DCS in 
Hammersmith and Fulham. Both appointments are permanent.  

 
3.4     Recruitment to management posts that sit underneath the DCS in 

Hammersmith and Fulham has begun, with adverts being placed for the 
Assistant Director for Family Services and for the Assistant Director for 
Special Educational Needs and Disability.  

 
3.5     A fully merged education department is a priority for building a new structure 

within Hammersmith and Fulham Children’s Services. Current planning 
includes creating a new structure to sit underneath the leadership posts that 
will transfer the school standards service, the SEN and disability service and 
the place planning service back to Hammersmith and Fulham by April 2018.  

 
3.6     Family Services (social care and Early Help) is mainly delivered as local single 

borough services; the main proposed change in this area is the development 
of the Family Support Service which will bring together our Early Help service 
together with Children's centres and Youth services in February 2018 with 
multi agency services such as Health Visiting and School nursing joining in 
October 2018. (Further information is provided below in section 6).  

 
 

4. EDUCATION 
 

SUMMARY OF SCHOOL TESTS AND EXAM OUTCOMES 2017 
 

            Primary schools 
 
4.1 Overall our primary schools have performed exceptionally well this year 

across the Key Stages. Pupils, staff, governors and parents should be 
congratulated on achieving a very impressive set of provisional results.  
 

4.2 In 2014, the primary curriculum was fundamentally reformed; expectations 
were raised, and the 2017 assessments were the second which assessed the 
new, more challenging, curriculum. Key Stage achievement is measured on 
performance categories for KS1 and KS2 teacher assessments (which allow 
analysis of those working at the expected standard, and those working at 
greater depth), and by scaled scores in KS2 tests (scores are standardised to 
a national average of 100, based on marks awarded).  

  

Page 8



Early Years 
 

4.3 There has been an improvement in the outcomes of the early years 
assessments. The percentage of the Reception cohort with a good level of 
development was provisionally 74% in Hammersmith and Fulham in 2017, up 
three percentage points from 71% in 2016. The provisional national average 
of 71% in 2017 represented a two percentage point increase from 69% in 
2016.   
 
Key Stage 1 (7 year olds) 
 

4.4 The percentages of pupils working as expected at Key Stage 1 were higher in 
2017 than in 2016 in reading (79%, up from 78%), in writing (72%, up from 
70%) and in mathematics (79%, up from 77%). All were above nationally 
(76%, 68% and 75% respectively in 2017). 
 

4.5 The percentages of pupils working at greater depth at Key Stage 1 had 
declined in reading (27%, down from 32%), although writing remained at 
18%, and mathematics had declined from 26% to 23%. However, all were 
above nationally (25%, 16% and 21% respectively in 2017). 
 

Key Stage 1 
Teacher assessments  

 

 LBHF NATIONAL 

 reading writing maths reading writing maths 

 
Working as 
expected 

2017 
 

79% 72% 79% 76% 68% 75% 

Working as 
expected 

2016 
78% 70% 77% 74% 65% 73% 

Working at 
greater depth 

2017 
27% 18% 23% 25% 16% 21% 

 
Working at 

greater depth 
2016  

 

32% 18% 26% 24% 13% 18% 

 
Key Stage 2 provisional results (11 year olds) 
 

4.6 The percentage of pupils working as expected at Key Stage 2 had improved in 
reading, writing and mathematics overall (74% in 2017, up from 61% in 
2016) and was also above nationally (61%, up from 53%). The percentages 
had also improved in reading (82%, up from 74%), in writing (81%, up from 

Page 9



78%) and in mathematics (86%, up from 79%); all were also above 
nationally. 
 

4.7 The percentage of pupils working at greater depth at Key Stage 2 had also 
improved in reading, writing and mathematics overall (14% in 2017, up 
from 8% in 2016) and was also above nationally (9%, up from 5%). The 
percentages had also improved in reading (35%, up from 24%), in writing 
(22%, up from 18%) and in mathematics (35%, up from 19%); all were also 
above nationally. 
 

Key Stage 2 
Tests (reading and mathematics) and teacher assessments (writing) 

   

  LBHF  NATIONAL 

 reading writing maths RWM reading writing maths RWM 

 
Working as 
expected 

2017 

82% 81% 86% 74% 71% 76% 75% 61% 

Working as 
expected 

2016 
74% 78% 79% 61% 66% 74% 70% 53% 

Working at 
greater 

depth 2017 
 35% 22% 35% 14% 25% 18% 23% 9% 

Working at 
greater 

depth 2016 
24% 18% 19% 8% 19% 15% 17% 5% 

 
Secondary Schools 
 
GCSE (provisional results) 
 

4.8 Further reforms were introduced this year to the GCSE grading system with 
grades 9-1 replacing A*-G for English and mathematics. Points 9-4 (4 and 
above) are deemed equivalent to A*-C (a ‘standard’ pass) but points 5-9 are a 
new measure termed a ‘strong’ pass by the DfE and have no historic 
equivalencies.  
 

4.9 The percentage achieving 9-4 (A*-C) in English and mathematics was 
provisionally 69%, compared with 70% in 2016, which was above the 2016 
national average (59%). 52% provisionally achieved 9-5 in English and 
mathematics. 
 

4.10 For the English Baccalaureate (a measure based on a combination of 
English, mathematics, science, a language and a humanities subject) 40% of 
students provisionally achieved this standard in 2017, compared with 41% in 
2016; this was also considerably above the 2016 national average (23%). 
 

Page 10



4.11 The borough also performed well in terms of the deleted indicator, 5 GCSEs 
at Grades A*-C including English and mathematics, at 68% provisionally, 
up from 64% in 2016 (54% nationally). 
 

4.12 Attainment 8 (a score based on points for eight main subjects) is also 
provisionally above the 2016 national average (52.3, compared with 48.5) and 
Progress 8 (a score standardised to a national average of 100, based on the 
GCSE points that would be expected, given prior attainment at KS2) will not 
be available until Autumn when the 2017 conversions for P8 will be available.  

 
4.13 It is worth stressing that the GCSE results available to the Local Authority are 

very provisional at this stage and subject to changes after re-marks and 
additional checks are undertaken. The Department for Education plan to 
publish provisional secondary school results before 31st October and this will 
be followed in January 2017 with the publication of the validated performance 
tables.  
 
A Level (provisional results) 

4.14 For A Levels, the percentage of papers awarded a Grade A*-B was 
provisionally 52% in 2017 (the 2017 national average was 53%) and those 
achieving the highest grades (Grade A*-A) was 27% (the 2017 national 
average was 26%).  

 
Ofsted Inspections on local schools  

4.15 Wendell Primary School inspected in May 2017 received a good rating. The 
school has maintained its good rating from the last inspection in February 
2013.  Ofsted noted an effective leadership team and a strong capacity to 
secure further improvement for the benefit of pupils. The school has 
developed effective links with its partner school to further develop the quality 
of teaching and learning by sharing specialist teachers in English and 
mathematics. This has led to an increase in the rates of pupils’ progress 
across the school since the school’s previous inspection. Parents are very 
positive about the school.  

 
4.16    Fulham Boys School inspected in May 2017 received a good rating. Ofsted 

noted that senior leaders and governors promote a highly aspirational vision 
of a school committed to achieving academic excellence for all its pupils. The 
Inspection noted that the ‘curriculum is strongly academic. An extended day 
allows opportunity to further stretch the most able, offer additional support 
where needed and build enterprise skills. As a result, boys receive excellent 
preparation for later stages of their lives’. 

 
School building developments 
 

4.17 Holy Cross and Clancarty Road Developments 
The expansion of the Holy Cross building in Basuto Road, in accordance with 
the School Organisation and Investment Strategy, was completed to 
programme. The works concluded in August. 
The related refurbishment of the former Peterborough Schools building, 
necessary to accommodate the final phase of the Bilingual programme also 

Page 11



part of the School Organisation strategy, also concluded as planned at the 
beginning of September, ready for the new term. 

 
4.18 Tri-borough Alternative Provision (TBAP) 

Bridge Academy and the 16-19 Academic Free School. The designs for the 
refurbishment of the current Bridge Academy and the new Free School were 
the subject of a successful Planning Application and the contractor will be 
appointed later this calendar year, starting on site in January 2018.In the 
meantime, and in order to help to de-risk the programme, the necessary 
window replacement programme has begun. Enabling and related works were 
successfully concluded on site in the summer period. From September of this 
year the Key Stage 4 Bridge provision will be relocated to the upgraded 
Latimer AP Academy in RBKC (also part of TBAP) and considerable 
discussion has taken place with strategic partners to facilitate this.  

 
5. Family Services 
 

Family Services data analysis 
 

Child Protection assessments (Section 47 investigations) 

 
5.1 Where child protection concerns are identified a child protection assessment, 

also known as a Section 47 investigation (Children Act 1989), will be 
completed by a qualified social worker. Although the number of S47 
investigations is slightly down in comparison to this period last year overall we 
are undertaking more than in previous years. This corresponds with a higher 
number of strategy discussions than in previous years. 

 
5.2 A data analysis has been completed to compare trends and benchmark our 

performance to that of neighbours and national performance. The analysis 
raised several possible lines of inquiries. In response external consultants 
have been engaged to look at on our performance and arrangements at the 
Front Door regarding how we respond to contacts and referrals and how we 
work with partners to address their concerns. 

 

Page 12



 
 

 
Child Protection  

 
5.3 Our target range for Child Protection numbers lies between 100 and 120. 

During this quarter we have seen a small spike taking numbers up to 126. 
Changes in Child Protection Chairs and the lead up to the school holidays are 
contributory factors. A review of child protection cases will be undertaken in 
order to predict numbers over the next 3 months.  Meanwhile all referrals for 
Initial Child Protection Conferences are reviewed by a Child Protection 
Advisor to ensure that a conference is the most effective course of action to 
safeguard the children. Robust quality assurance and effective 
monitoring have been key to maintaining numbers at an acceptable level. 

 

  
 
Looked After Children 

 
5.4 Whilst the total LAC population increased by 17 (form 198 to 2015) in the year 

the ‘citizen’ increase was only 5 (3.4%). The number of UASC increased in 

Page 13



the 16/17 year from 26 to 38 (46% increase). This increase reflects the 
additional 12 DUBS children that the LA accommodated during the year. 

 
 

Year Ending 
March 

Citizen UASC Total 

2014 195 9 204 

2015 163 22 185 

2016 172 26 198 

2017 177 38 215 

2017-18 qtr1 171 38 209 

 
Care Leavers  

 

5.5 The number of care leavers has increased from 170 to 189. The increase over 
the last 3 years  (160-170-189), tracks the increasing LAC population increase 
(163-172-177). This 11 % increase could also be linked to the following factors; 
the older cohort of LAC who are aging and moving from LAC to care leavers, 
the increase in UASC who tend to be 16 and 17 years old when they become 
LAC (UASC increased by 46% from 26 to 38) the increase in care leavers who 
are over 21 and completing higher Education courses and continue to receive 
support, care leavers who are awaiting their final destination accommodation 
and continue to receive support. 

 
5.6 As aspects of the Children and Social Work Act come into practice in 17/18, the 

number of care leavers will continue to increase as a service will need to be 
provided to all care leavers up until the age of 25 years. 

 

 
 

Grenfell Tower Fire – Outreach support work for affected families 
 
5.7 Following the fire at Grenfell Tower several affected families and individuals 

have been placed in seven different hotels within LBHF.  The number of 
individuals placed in LBHF varies from one week to another and is currently 
standing at 108 individuals including 18 children. 

 

Page 14



5.8 A team of outreach support workers was set up with volunteer social workers 
from Children Services and officers from Housing. The team has been carrying 
out regular visits to all hotels, meeting with those that need support and 
providing information regarding additional services available at the current time. 
The team also provide practical support, help with various issues such as 
transport, request for counselling, clothing and provide information regarding 
additional services available through the main Hub at RBKC.  

 
5.9 An example of much needed support is the provision of food vouchers for those 

placed at the Holiday Inn and the Premier Inn as the hotels do not serve hot 
meals. This has been well received and a success. Another example is that 
Flora Gardens children centre was made available seven days per week for 
use by families affected and has been well used. The support provided so far 
has been well received and in some cases much needed.  

 
5.10 Family Services works closely and liaises with the main Hub team at RBKC to 

support the families placed in LBHF. We have also provided several volunteers 
social workers and family practitioners who have been allocated to a family to 
carry out assessments and provide keyworker support 

 
5.11 Social workers, Housing officers, Hotel staff and several other professionals 

have played a significant role in supporting families and individuals affected by 
the incident. 

  
5.12 The Hammersmith and Fulham Clinical team, a group of Clinical Psychologists 

and Family Therapists based in Children's Services, offer the opportunity for 
staff to debrief and access support and guidance regarding how to manage this 
difficult task and reflect on their experiences of providing vital support for 
people in need. This offer of opportunity to debrief and provision of support was 
extended to include participating Hotels’ staff.  

 
6. COMMISSIONING 
 

The Travel Care and Support Service  
 
6.1 On 31st March 2017, the Leader approved the decision to establish a sovereign 

framework and award the minibus and taxi travel care and support contracts 
which will deliver travel care and support services to eligible children, young 
people, and vulnerable adults in the London Borough of Hammersmith and 
Fulham. 

 
6.2 The new provider of minibuses was awarded the contract on the basis of an 

excellent tender which put quality at the centre of the service offer. It met the 
criteria of a specification that was co-designed with parents, carers, schools, 
day services and social care stakeholders. The focus of the specification was to 
clearly define and enhance quality in the areas of; staff competence, service 
continuity, improved communication and compassionate care.  

 
6.3 A re-price for taxi provision had to take place to ensure the sustainability of the 

Framework in the long term. This resulted in an increase in cost of £164k and 

Page 15



potential budget growth in 2018/19 will need to be considered as part of the 
overall Medium Term Financial strategy process. The timescales involved in the 
re-price meant that the Framework would not be in place for the start of the 
academic year. The Council therefore established an interim arrangement 
where it directly awarded the majority of routes/contracts for one month from 01 
September 2017 – 30 September 2017 after which the Travel Care and 
Support Framework would take effective. 

 
6.4 The benefits of this procurement include; a sovereign travel care and support 

service that works specifically for the residents of Hammersmith and Fulham, 
meets the Council’s commitment to paying the London Living Wage and offers 
significant social value initiatives by the new provider. 

 
6.5 The new service commenced for day services on 1 August 2017. For schools, 

the new service will commence at the start of the new academic year (1 
September 2017). From previous lessons learned, the Council has maximised 
the implementation period for minibus provision to ensure a smooth and 
successful transition. Implementation will therefore begin once. 

 
The Family Support Service  

  
6.6 The Implementation of the Family Support Service is continuing to progress at 

pace.  The start date for Phase 1 of the FSS has been revised to 1st February 
2018. A summary of key activities completed to date is set out below:  

  
6.7 The procurement for a 0-18 Locality & Framework services went live on 12 

July and is comprised of 10 lots, that will novate to the Special Purpose 
Vehicle (SPV) once established in 2018. The lots include a range of specialist 
services provided to children, young people (and their families), as part of the 
0-18 (or 0-25 years where there are identified SEND) integrated service offer. 
The Framework provides a mechanism for the FSS to engage specialist 
providers and leverage the best of this provision, whilst achieving the benefits 
of greater integration.  

 
6.8 Wide ranging engagement continues to be undertaken to ensure that 

stakeholders input into the emerging design of the FSS.  A series of design 
workshops were completed during July, with representation from Early Help, 
Children’s Centres and Youth Services.  

 
6.9 A Shadow Board was established on the 23rd May to act as a strategic 

decision making forum for the FSS as it develops into a provider vehicle 
ahead of 1st February.  This is a key phase of the programme, as it enables a 
separation between the Council as Commissioner and the FSS as the future 
service provider.   
 

6.10 Monthly meetings have followed with discussion focused on performance 
metrics of current services, the delivery approach/strategy of the FSS, HR 
implications of the FSS, and planning for the new operating model / ways of 
working.  
 

Page 16



6.11 A recruitment process is underway to appoint a Managing Director to the FSS 
is being recruited, with the aim of making an appointment in October to ensure 
the candidate is in post in time for when the FSS commences operations in 
February. 
 

6.12 Broader work is now under way to scope the additional areas identified in the 
Cabinet paper, which the Council could consider commissioning the FSS to 
deliver to develop it as a broader strategic health and wellbeing provider for 
the borough.  

es of propos 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1 As this report is intended to provide an update on recent developments, there 
are no immediate equality implications. However, any equality issues will be 
highlighted in any subsequent substantive reports on any of the items which 
are requested by the Committee. 

 
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 As this report is intended to provide an update on recent developments, there 

are no immediate legal implications. However, any legal issues will be 
highlighted in any subsequent substantive reports on any of the items which 
are requested by the Committee. 

 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 As this report is intended to provide an update on recent developments, there 

are no immediate financial and resource implications. However, any financial 
and resource issues will be highlighted in any subsequent substantive reports 
on any of the items which are requested by the Committee. 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
None. 
 

Page 17



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION POLICY & 
ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
11 September 2017 

 

 
 

IMPROVING TRANSITIONS - TASK GROUP FINAL REPORT 
 

Report of the Chair – Councillor Caroline Needham 
  

Open Report 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Sarah Thomas, Director for Delivery and Value 
 

Report Author: David Abbott,  
Scrutiny Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2063 
E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Health, Adult Social Care & Social Inclusion Policy and Accountability 

Committee formed this task group to consider how the council can improve the 
experience for young disabled people transitioning from social care services for 
children to social care services for adults. 
 

1.2 After considering the shortcomings and challenges of the current arrangements 
and looking at what parents and professionals thought a good transition 
experience would be, the task group made the recommendations in the following 
key areas: 

 

 The creation of a new ‘Preparing for Adulthood’ team that was co-designed 
with parents and young disabled people – and was accountable to them. 

 

 Ensuring there was greater transparency and improved communication. 
 

 Empowering professionals to do their jobs effectively and efficiently. 
 

 Improving the housing pipeline so young disabled adults had suitable housing 
available when they needed it. 

 
 
 

Page 18

Agenda Item 7

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 That the Committee endorse the recommendations of the task group’s report (on 
page 18 of Appendix 1) for approval by Cabinet. 

 
 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
None. 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
Appendix 1 – Improving Transitions – Task Group Final Report 

Page 19



1 

 
 

Improving Transitions 
Task Group Final Report 

September 2017 
 

Chair’s foreword 
 
The need for the work of the Transitions Working Group stretches back several 
years. Disabled young people and their parents have for too long found themselves 
at the mercy of events rather than shaping them when it comes to the transition from 
childhood to adulthood. 
 
This was all too apparent in conversations we have had with parents facing that ‘cliff 
edge’. At a time where their children were soon to become adults, there had been no 
planning, work or joined-up thinking to enable them to move into adulthood without 
losing access to their current services. And seemingly little vision of what was on 
offer for them. 
 
This can be extremely stressful for young people and their parents. Changing that is 
the ambition of this report. 
 
Our recommendations are designed to ensure that professionals work with families 
from an early stage in identifying the needs of disabled young people and planning 
for their transition to adulthood. The work needs to involve professionals from a 
range of disciplines in assessing children’s needs, discussing and agreeing the way 
forward with children and their families, and then reviewing plans on a regular, most 
likely annual basis. 
 
There are three crucial aspects to this approach. 

 The first is interdisciplinary working. The discussions we had in producing this 
report highlighted that transition involves a wide range of different disciplines 
(education, children’s social care, adult social care, health and housing). But 
for each of them transition perhaps seems only a small part of their work, so 
its vital importance can get lost. That’s why the establishment of a dedicated 
team with pooled resources is so crucial – to ensure regular joined-up 
working, day-in and day-out. 

 Communication with young people and their parents is also key. Many of our 
meetings highlighted the frustration of parents who felt remote and pushed 
away from decisions being made about their children, and of young people 
who were not involved in the decisions that affected them. Professionals 
recognised this problem and are, I believe, committed to finding a way to 
ensure that young people and their parents have a real voice in transition. 

Page 20



2 

 Regular reviews will also be hugely important. Dialogue with young people 
about transition and their aims and ambitions should happen regularly. As 
their ambitions for adulthood change over time, the services and support they 
want, whether around work or further education or in other areas, will need to 
respond. 

 
Ultimately, the success of these recommendations will come if, in time, young people 
and their families tell us that they have a clear idea about their path for adulthood. 
One where professionals are assisting them in bringing together their paperwork and 
reports, discussing their ambitions, brokering opportunities in work and education 
where appropriate, and regularly reviewing their progress. 
 
Such a vision won’t take away all of the difficulties of becoming an adult – there will 
be all the usual emotional challenges; parents may still have much to do; 
professionals, parents and young people may on occasion disagree; and this will all 
take time. 
 
But if put into practice, the recommendations in this report should give disabled 
young people one of the things they need and deserve – greater and more certain 
support as they transition to adulthood. 
 
Thanks 
 
This report is the culmination of a number of months of work by the Transition 
Working Group. 
 
I would particularly like to thank Patrick McVeigh, Sarah Markson and Peter Harden 
for agreeing to become members of the Group. Their input as parents of children 
who have been or will be going through transition was invaluable. 
 
I should also like to thank the many dedicated professionals from across children’s 
social care, education, adult social care, health and housing who contributed to our 
meetings. They gave generously of their time and have helped us to shape some 
clear recommendations. They are listed in Appendix 1. 
 
The expert guests who attended our meetings also helped to shape the way forward. 
Their contribution was also invaluable and I should like to thank them sincerely for 
their time. 
 
I would also like to thank my fellow councillor members of the group, Cllr Caroline 
Needham and Cllr Marcus Ginn, as well as my colleague Cllr Ben Coleman, for their 
invaluable contributions. 
 
Finally, this report would not have been possible without the dedication of David 
Abbott from the Council’s Scrutiny Team, who brought the meetings together and 
drafted the final report. I thank him wholeheartedly for his skilful work. 
 
- Councillor Rory Vaughan, Chair of the Task Group and Chair of the Adult Social 
Care, Health and Social Inclusion Policy and Accountability Committee 
  

Page 21



3 

Executive Summary 
 
The Health, Adult Social Care & Social Inclusion Policy and Accountability 
Committee formed this task group to consider how the council can improve the 
experience for young disabled people transitioning from social care services for 
children to social care services for adults. 
 
After considering the shortcomings and challenges of the current arrangements and 
looking at what parents and professionals thought a good transition experience 
would be, the task group made the recommendations in the following key areas: 
 

 The creation of a new ‘Preparing for Adulthood’ team that was co-designed with 
parents and young disabled people – and was accountable to them. 

 

 Ensuring there was greater transparency and improved communication. 
 

 Empowering professionals to do their jobs effectively and efficiently. 
 

 Improving the housing pipeline so young disabled adults had suitable housing 
available when they needed it. 

 
The full list of recommendations can be found on page 18 of this report. 
 
  

Page 22



4 

 
 

Table of contents 
 
 

 
Chair’s foreword and executive summary p1 

 
Table of contents 

 
p4 

 
1.  Introduction 

 
p5 

 
2.  Objectives 

 
p5 

 
3.  The current offer 

 
p6 

 
4.  The challenges for transition services 

 
p10 

 
5.  Recommendations 

 
p18 

 
 
Appendix 1 – Task Group contributors 

 
 
p20 

 
Appendix 2 – Task Group Work Programme 

 
p21 

 

Page 23



5 

1. Introduction 

 
What we mean by ‘transition’ 
 

“Transition is an essential part of human life and experience. Here the term is 

used to refer to the process of change for young people, and those around 

them, as they progress from childhood to adulthood. This movement can be a 

time of celebration, change and also challenge for all young people. It is a 

time when young people are considering and making decisions about their 

continuing education, work and careers, their social life and where and how 

they will live.” 

- Social Care Institute for Excellence (2014) 

 
As young disabled people grow older there comes a point when they have to 
‘transition’ from children’s social care services to adult social care services. This 
transition covers a period before the move, where options are discussed and 
arrangements are planned, the transfer itself, and then a period of support 
afterwards. This process has to be carefully planned so young disabled people and 
their families feel prepared - and to make sure there are no gaps in the vital care and 
support services that they receive. 
 

2. Objectives of the task group 
 
Why we started the task group 
 
For a variety of reasons, the experiences of young disabled people and their families 
going through the transitions process is still very variable. For many it is a time of 
anxiety and uncertainty. 
 
The Health, Adult Social Care & Social Inclusion Policy and Accountability 
Committee formed this task group of councillors and parents to consider how the 
council can improve the transition experience and outcomes for young people and 
their families. During the course of the inquiry the task group met with parental 
advocacy groups, council officers in children’s services, adult social care, health, and 
housing, education and medical professionals, and representatives from the third 
sector. 
 
Goals 
 
The task group set itself the following three objectives; to understand the current 
model and its shortcomings and challenges, to consider what a ‘good’ transition 
experience would be, and to make recommendations for improvements. 

Page 24



6 

3. The current offer 

 
Teams and services 
 
Hammersmith & Fulham provides a ‘Transition Service’ for young people with 
learning disabilities. This service is made up of the following components: 

• Two social workers (one permanently funded by Adult Social Services and 
one funded by the Clinical Commissioning Group) 

• Virtual Team (this has ad-hoc membership supplied by Adult Learning 
Disability practitioners from Psychology, Psychiatry, Speech and Language 
Therapy, Nursing, Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy) 

• Key workers for children with Special Educational Needs 
• Disabled Children’s Team (Children’s Social Care) 
• Children’s Educational Psychology Service 

 
There are additional links with other services, including Looked After Children, the 
Leaving Care service and the Youth Offending Team, as well as the Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Service and the Children’s Community Nursing Service.  
 
There are a number of commissioned services for this group of young people 
including special schools, employment services, further education, short breaks, 
evening clubs, day opportunities, and young carers’ support groups. 
 
Current practice 
 
The current practice is outlined as follows: 
 
Publication of the Local Offer 
 
All local authorities are required to publish a ‘Local Offer’ outlining the provision that 
is available for all young people with SEN and disabilities, and are required to offer 
families the option of a ‘personal budget’ with which to purchase services. H&F’s 
Local Offer can be viewed online at: www.lbhf.gov.uk/localoffer  
 
Social Care 
 
In H&F the transition team only work with young people with learning disabilities. 
Children are assessed for eligibility for adult learning disability services as they 
approach the age of 18, which is generally considered to be too late to enable a well-
managed transition to adult services. 
 
Education 
 
The Special Educational Needs Service has recently employed key-workers who 
have a specific focus on young people aged 16-19 and an Assistant Head of Service 
who is responsible to development of the Local Offer of education provision for 
children aged 16-25. 
 
The key-workers are responsible for ensuring that the transition from school into 
post-16/19 provision is managed for a young person once they exceed statutory 

Page 25

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/localoffer


7 

school age and, where appropriate, will liaise with colleagues in Social Care and 
Health. The key-workers are also trained in providing advice and guidance for 
preparing for adulthood. 
 
Health 
 
From the age of 0-18 the most significant period of coordinated Health input takes 
place in the first 4-5 years of a child’s life and is managed by the multi-disciplinary 
Child Development Teams. Young people with enduring needs will continue to 
receive specialised paediatric support from the service up until their 18th birthday. 
This can include Occupational Health input, Speech and Language and 
Physiotherapy, Psychology and Music therapy, in some cases specified in an 
Education Health and Care Plan. All other young people receive various inputs as 
and when they are required, and these are usually coordinated by their 
parents/carers via their local GP surgery. 
 
When they turn 18, those young people without complex or enduring needs will 
continue to access support from their local GP surgery as and when it is needed. 
Young people with complex needs will also transfer from their specific paediatric 
support to their local GP. The quality of support that these young people receive 
from their local GP can vary. 
 
Housing 
 
The Housing Options team manages all aspects of housing advice, assessment, and 
allocations. Within this section is a specialist team, the Placement and Assessment 
Team for Homeless Singles (PATHS), who manage referrals to supported housing, 
including access to the Learning Disability supported accommodation. 
 
PATHS is primarily responsible for trying to prevent homelessness and assess 
support needs and housing circumstances so that appropriate support can be 
provided. If appropriate, they will refer individuals moving from residential 
accommodation, or from their family home, into supported accommodation that will 
meet their needs. 
 
The process map below shows the route to supported accommodation through 
PATHS. The PATHS team works closely with ASC to allocate units appropriately. 
 

 
 
There are two main providers of supported housing in the borough, Yarrow, and 
Metropolitan Housing. In addition, there is a quota within the scheme of allocations 
for 5 general needs homes that are allocated to residents with learning disabilities. 
There is also up to 40 units available for move on from supported accommodation. 
 
These are separate to the long term residential accommodation, where need is 
identified and placements matched via social work teams. 

Housing need 
identified  

Refer to PATHS 
PATHS asseses 

their needs 

Referral to 
suitable 

accomodation 

Move-on 
review 

Page 26



8 

 
Feedback from disabled young people and their families on the current offer 
 
Parents and carers can provide feedback about services through a number of 
different forums and surveys, including the Children and Families Act Parents 
Reference Group. In addition the ‘customer journey’ work undertaken last year by 
Adult Social Care highlights the frustrations expressed by some parents and outlines 
challenges for the future.  
 
Most disabled young people and their families are generally satisfied with the local 
offer, however it is clear that significant frustration is created by overly bureaucratic 
or unresponsive provision. This feeling is intensified when services fail to coordinate 
their activities. 
 
The local authority has gathered feedback from parents regarding transition. Below 
is a summary of the key points from: 

• It is essential to have good communication, transparency and clarity from all 
involved in transition.  

• The parents commented that the experience in Hammersmith and Fulham 
was ‘variable’. Those young people already known to Children’s services 
moving to Adult Services had better planning. 

• Parents found it hard moving from very child focussed services to adult 
services which had to cater for the broad spectrum of younger adults to old 
age. 

• A number of parents still felt they had to lead and organise the future plans for 
their son or daughter but often did not know what was fully available.  

• Parents wanted to be empowered but needed to know where to go and what 
was possible. An effective key worker / coordinator role, having a wide 
knowledge of transition was needed, guiding parents appropriately on all 
aspects that affect transition not just placements. 

• Parents reported that there was often significant amount of time taken to 
resolve disputes about future funding of services and this had delayed some 
young people in receiving the service they needed. ‘Parents should not be 
caught up in this wrangle’. 

• Lack of suitable provision of college placements meant that some young 
people needed to be placed out of borough and that local colleges were only 
offering four days per week and this was an added pressure to cover for 
working parents, as well as those at home. 

• Parents felt the new EHC process bringing all the agencies together was a 
positive development. 

 
Young people and parents provided the following feedback on the housing offer: 

• They wanted suitable local accommodation that will offer good quality care 
and support in a safe environment. 

• They wanted more options and flexibility to meet their individual needs. For 
example, some tenancies do not allow hard flooring which might make the 
accommodation unsuitable - or changes to the environment / eligibility for 
housing that might enable the family to live together longer (e.g. 
soundproofing, property size, layout of the property etc.) 

Page 27



9 

• They wanted community supported living, such as a cluster of flats with 
shared care that enabling living in and being support by the community. 

• Families with children have identified the lack of suitable adapted 
accommodation and challenges with accessing the housing allocations 
process. 

• There is no provision for autism in the borough, such as specialist housing 
and support services. 

 
Additionally, young people have said that they wanted better opportunities for 
employment. 
 
Some parents commented on the timing of the involvement of the Transition Team 
and pointed out that this often occurred too close to the point of transition, creating 
anxiety about the future. 
 
Young people have also been provided with workshops to enable them to provide 
views on what they may need or wish for in the design for future commissioned 
services. A workshop took place last year to which every young disabled person 
going through transition was invited. The outputs of that workshop are much the 
same as the issues above - the full report ‘Children and Families Act SEN changes’ 
is available on the Hammersmith and Fulham Website. 
 

  

Page 28



10 

4. The challenges for transition services  

 
Supporting disabled young people in their transition to adulthood is challenging for 
service providers the following key reasons: 
 
1. Individual needs 
 
The process is individual to the needs and aspirations of each young person. 
 
2. Changing needs over time 
 
Transition is a fluid process, spread out over a number of years. 
 
3. Multiple transitions 
 
Young people move from one service to another at different ages. For example, a 
disabled young person may move from paediatric to adult health services at 16, then 
at 18 move from children’s to adult social care. Each of these transitions is likely to 
occur independently of each other, which means that young people and their families 
may repeatedly have to deal with new agencies and professionals, re-telling their 
story each time. 
 
4. Greater demand and more complex needs 
 
Medical advances mean that more young people with a range of different disabilities 
and complex medical conditions are living into adulthood than ever before. 
 
5. Insufficient planning and reduced support 
 
The point at which young disabled people move from children’s to adult services 
needs to be planned for years in advance, yet planning is often poor. The reduced 
support which they then get from adult services compared with children’s services 
comes as a shock to many young people and their families, who often compare this 
to falling off a cliff. 
 
6. Shared responsibility and accountability 
 
Transition is too often seen as something which need to be addressed individually by 
children’s services or adult services, instead of both addressing it equally. 
 
7. Lack of resources 
 
Young disabled people often find the adult services they need inadequate. They 
want services which enable them to lead ordinary lives, including a social life. They 
want a feeling of freedom and not being overwhelmed within adult environments and 
at the same time as being offered appropriate support. 
 

Page 29



11 

This will only be exacerbated by the extension of some Education Health and Care 
Plans to the age of 25. The requirement created the following two specific challenges 
for local authorities: 

• The offer of high quality specialist provision for post 16 and post 19 education 
is currently underdeveloped. Local authorities need to quantify the number of 
young people who are approaching transition at 16 and at 19 years of age 
and will qualify for an Education Health and Care Plan and, on the basis of 
this demand, will need to develop their local offer to support the transition to 
adulthood, including planning for young people’s employment and 
independence in or near their local community. 

• There is no extra funding in the system to deliver this specialist provision; 
therefore this extension of the age range represents a financial risk to the 
High Needs Block within the Dedicated Schools Grant if it is not closely 
managed and delivered economically in partnership with Adult Social Care 
and Adult Health Services. 

 
To be effective, pathways to employment for Young People with SEND must be 
personalised. By having an individualised approach, the educational programme will 
build on existing strengths, and support the young person to learn the skills they 
need for their next step.  
 
The local offer of FE and third sector provision is intended to provide a continuum of 
employment opportunities. This continuum can include ‘job carving’ where a learner 
may carry out a specific element of a job, voluntary opportunities, paid work, part 
time work, involvement in a social enterprise or supported employment. 
 
8. Differing eligibility criteria 
 
Young people with autism and those who are considered vulnerable, as well as 
looked after children, are often seen as falling through gaps when transferring to 
adult services because the eligibility criteria for access to support is often different to 
that for children’s services.  
 
Furthermore, should a child have a Statement of special educational needs or an 
Education, Health and Care Plan, the joint assessment and planning process 
between social care and education at age 14 needs to be coordinated in a more 
efficient way. There is a need to ensure that eligibility criteria for services are aligned 
between Children’s Social Care and Adult Social Care and that a shared language is 
used between the services. 
 
9. Sufficiency of the local offer and out of borough placements 
 
The Children and Families Act, enacted in September 2014, extended the age range 
of eligibility to a formal assessment and support plan for Education, Health and Care 
needs from 0-16 to 0-25. This means that there is a requirement for local authorities 
to provide a seamless transition between children’s services, adult’s services, and 
health services - and ensure that there is a high quality offer of specific courses and 
support for young people aged 16-25 with SEN and disabilities. 
 

Page 30



12 

When there is a lack of specialist local provision that meets the needs of a child of 
statutory school age, the local authority often has to seek a placement with an 
independent provider outside of the borough. There are four overarching issues with 
placing a young person at such a provider: 

• The young person will generally need to travel long distances away from 
home each day (or in the case or residential placements, live away from 
home), which causes disruption to family life and does not allow for inclusion 
in the local community. 

• The local authority has less influence over the quality of the provider and less 
powers of intervention to ensure standards are consistently high. 

• Health transitions can become more complicated, as providers from other 
authorities become responsible for the delivery of health support. 

• Subsequent transitions to local services are challenging when a young person 
returns to the borough as he or she will have built up an existing network of 
support in a location that is a significant distance away from home. 

 
10. Housing 
 
Some of the current supported housing buildings are not fit for purpose. In LD 
supported housing there are voids because some of the buildings are not accessible 
for the customer’s needs. 
 
There are residents in supported housing with high and complex needs in shared 
accommodation, where it is difficult to find a suitable match to the void room. 
 
Supported accommodation accessed through the PATHS team is intended as short 
term, and not designed to give long-term tenancy solutions. Individuals are 
supported to learn independent living skills to enable them to move-on, although 
some residents’ needs may be best matched to the current environment and may 
never be able to live independently. There is the provision to support individuals to 
move on to their own long term tenancies 
 
Insufficient local provision to meet the current customer needs. Largely this is due to 
the suitability of the buildings, and in some circumstances, the level of care that is 
available is not sufficient to meet needs. 
 
Low levels of turnover of suitable properties within general needs, and specifically of 
properties with adaptations or that are suitable for adaptations. 
 
A general lack of affordable housing supply in the borough, due to high land values 
and restricted delivery generally. 
 
11. Employment - Providing pathways into employment 
 
Employment for adults with a learning disability is nationally monitored and remains 
at a very low level in Hammersmith & Fulham compared to the rest of London and 
the UK as a whole. Work needs to be done to improve the opportunities for 
education leading to meaningful work experience and employment for young people 
with complex needs. 
 

Page 31



13 

12. Health 
 
There is often a significant difference between health services for children and those 
for adults, and the level of support provided to a young person and their family can 
been seen to reduce once a young person turns 18. Communication between 
children’s health practitioners and, for example, General Practitioners is of 
paramount importance to ensure a smooth transition between these services. 
 
Furthermore, the recently produced Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 
Task & Finish Group Report recommended introducing Transition Champions into 
Adult Mental Health services to strengthen the pathway for young adults requiring 
support. This suggestion has been endorsed by Hammersmith & Fulham’s Health & 
Well Being Boards and the Executive Director of Adult Social Care. 
 
13. Projections - Data sharing and projecting the needs of young people 
approaching transition 
 
Within the Adult Social Care client database, a new area for data collection has 
recently been set up to capture information on young people aged 14 and above who 
are in transition. This is being populated manually by transition staff from Adult 
Social Care based on information provided by Children’s Services. This will enable 
Adult Social Care to plan services for young people and captures information 
relevant to: 

• health condition / disability 
• housing need 
• if the young person has needs resulting from challenging behaviour 

 
While this new dataset is useful, it doesn’t address the new requirements for the 
Children and Families Act in projecting demand across health and SEN needs and 
therefore facilitating the development of a medium-to-long-term commissioning 
strategy. 
 
Active, collaboration between Public Health, CCGs, Adult and Children’s Social Care 
is urgently required to strengthen data capture and analysis to improve planning for 
transitions and projected need. 
 

  

Page 32



14 

5. What good looks like 
 
H&F’s vision and options for improving transitions in Hammersmith and 
Fulham 
 
Our vision is for a Hammersmith and Fulham transition service that is for all children 
and young people with a physical or learning disability and/or complex medical 
needs, and their families. We fully endorse the National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence’s recommendations and principles from their guideline publication, 
‘Transition from children’s to adults’ services for young people using health or social 
care services’. 
 
Our transition services will be based on listening to what young disabled people and 
their families want and by starting to plan well in advance, we will; 

• ensure a smooth transfer for young disabled people from children’s to existing 
adult social care, health and education services and;  

• develop new adult services which respond to young disabled people’s 
additional needs. 

 
Once a young disabled person reaches the age of 14, a range of children and adult 
services will come together to agree a transition plan, encompassing all relevant 
local agencies. This plan will ideally taper services as needed to make transition less 
of a ‘cliff edge’ for families. 
 
Options for improvement 
 
Improving the transition team model in Hammersmith and Fulham 
 
Other models of provision exist and commonly feature shared staff members 
between Children’s and Adult Social Care teams and assessment processes initiated 
at an earlier stage. A similar model could be implemented in Hammersmith and 
Fulham, along with changes in practice that would make the coordination of client 
groups and activity more straightforward, for example undertaking the psychological 
learning difficulty assessments at the age of 16 rather than at 17 years 9 months as 
is current practice. 
 
Developing the post-18 local offer for social care services 
 
Support services and respite functions within Adult Social Care provide support for 
people until old-age - this leads to young people having to spend time in settings 
which are not age-appropriate. Children’s and Adult Social Care should work 
together to understand how current provision could be used differently to better 
support this cohort of young people. 
 
There is a risk that this work could essentially move the ‘cliff edge’ from 18 to 25. 
However, it is considered that there is much more potential and capability for a 25-
year-old to transfer into adult orientated services than an 18 year old. 
 
  

Page 33



15 

Improving the quality of the adult health offer 
 
At 18 years old, young people with complex needs will transfer from their specific 
paediatric support to their local GP. The CCG have recently undertaken an audit of 
young people aged 16-25 with complex needs in Kensington and Chelsea and have 
established that there are 24 young people using the adult GP Service. It is 
estimated that there are roughly 100 young people across Hammersmith and 
Fulham, Kensington and Chelsea, and Westminster. 
 
The overarching issue for Health is the need to increase the provision of specialist 
services currently on offer for young people once they become adults (for instance, 
Speech and Language Therapy). A coordinated approach to the strategic 
commissioning of such services is of paramount importance. 
 
Officers in Adult Social Care have also highlighted the needs for greater engagement 
of Adult Mental Health Services in assessment and planning for young people in 
transition.  
 
Improving the further education offer and pathways into employment 
 
In order to address the need for more local specialist provision that helps promote 
independence and provides pathways into employment for young people aged 19 
and above, the SEN Service have been actively working with Special Schools and 
Further Education Colleges in Hammersmith and Fulham, Kensington and Chelsea 
and Westminster. Examples of activities that are currently underway include: 

• Providing virtual local authority support teams to train FE providers as well as 
offering outreach support and guidance in supporting young people with 
SEND 

• Development of post-19 provision at Queensmill Special School specifically 
for young adults on the autistic spectrum, which will follow the four key 
pathways in the Preparing for Adulthood Framework: Employment; 
Independent living; Community inclusion; Health 

• Implementation of ‘Project Search’, which will support young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities into meaningful supported 
employment opportunities 

 
The Queensmill offer has been running from September 2015, delivered in 
partnership with Adult Social Care, using some of their respite facilities, to help ease 
the transition from Children’s Services and a school environment into a more adult 
orientated setting that promotes independence and employment. 
 
A working group, led by Queensmill Governors, worked in partnership with officers 
from Children’s Services and Adult Social Care to develop a permanent model based 
on the creation of a charitable incorporated organisation. This was implemented late 
in 2016. Discussions are also taking place with Jack Tizard to develop a similar 
model for young people with profound and multiple learning disabilities. 
  

Page 34



16 

Expanding the supported internships programme 
 
Supported Internships is a study programme specifically aimed at young people 
aged 16-25 with an EHC plan who want to move to employment but need extra 
support to do so. The internships are structured study programmes, based primarily 
at an employer, where most of their time is spent on a work placement (4 days a 
week, working around 10am until 3.30pm) coupled with a personalised study 
programme that gives them the opportunity to study for relevant qualifications. 
 
In the first year of delivery the programme took on eight young people and the 
2017/18 cohort expanded that to 13. Officers said the increase in interest was due to 
the Supported Internship Fair held at West London College on 26 January 2017 - 
where existing interns had a stall and promoted the opportunities across H&F 
Council and L’Oréal. 
 
Officers reported that all of the interns had developed confidence and employability 
skills thanks to the support from their job coaches and tutors. Four young people 
have moved into jobs and Action on Disability are working with the remaining 
learners to progress them into paid work. 
 
The Council is keen to develop this programme further and are planning to develop 
more roles in areas such as: a children’s centre nursery, ICT, the post room, AMEY, 
human resources, libraries, parks, and a local leisure centre. L’Oréal are also looking 
to expand their roles to include their academy, restaurant, post room, and HR. 
Officers are also in discussions with other businesses to bring them into the 
programme. 
 
Improving the planning for transition and links between health services for 
children and adults 
 
An option to improve the quality of support that young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities receive from their local GP when they turn 18 is to 
provide specific training for GPs. However, it is not considered that this will offer 
good value for money as most GPs have either only one or two young people to 
support, or in some cases they have no young people with enduring or complex 
needs within their caseload.  
 
The Clinical Commissioning Group is currently undertaking a review of the templates 
to be used for an annual health check for young people with learning difficulties. 
Once the templates are finalised, it is envisaged that they will be used by health 
professionals each year from when the child turns 14, and will ultimately inform 
transition needs at an early stage, enabling planning processes to be completed in 
good time. The CCG still need to understand how this will be planned for and 
implemented in the medium to long term. 
 
The CCG are also developing local coordinating roles for young people with complex 
needs, based on the existing Primary Care Plus / Care Coordinators Roles. An 
option is to consider whether there is a need to increase the number of these roles 
for children and young adults to support effective transition. Furthermore, the 
‘Connecting Care for Children’ initiative is aiming to provide GPs with wider support 

Page 35



17 

when involved in transition work. The programme is at an early stage, but its 
progress is being monitored. 
 
Improving the supported housing offer for young people aged 18 plus 
 
Service users and advocates want the following: 

• To have an option of moving into shared accommodation with their peers. 
• To be close to family and friends. 
• A supportive housing application process and transparency on banding 

decisions and reviews. 
 
To make that a reality the council has made housing for disabled people an 
important element of the draft Housing Strategy ‘Delivering the Change We Need in 
Housing’. Section two of the draft strategy ‘Meeting Housing Needs and Aspirations’ 
includes proposed actions for meeting the housing needs of disabled people, 
including those with Learning Disability’. 
 
The actions are: 

• Continue to implement the Learning Disability accommodation and support 
strategy and work with key stakeholder to deliver this 

• Undertake a review and reconfigure learning disabled supported housing 
provision 

• Map the system for updating and maintaining the accessible housing register 
and make recommendations for improvements 

• Review and improve the system for void notification and allocation of adapted 
properties 

• Review affordability of social housing and options for those on disability 
benefits and who are unlikely to be able to work 

• Work with stakeholders to improve access for vulnerable groups and ensure 
that council staff have appropriate training to enable them to identify and 
respond to needs 

• Explore with Adult Social Care and Health initiatives to provide innovative 
preventative services 

• Improve access to the social housing system e.g. staff training and changes 
to the registration process 

 
  

Page 36



18 

6. Recommendations 
 
 
We want a transition service that is for all children and young people with a physical 
or learning disability and/or complex medical needs, and their families. Transition 
services will be based on listening to what young disabled people and their families 
want and, by starting to plan well in advance, it will ensure a smooth transfer from 
children’s services to adult social care, health and education services. To make this 
vision a reality we recommend the following: 
 
 
1. A new ‘Preparing for Adulthood’ team 
 
The key to achieving our vision for a better transition service is the creation of a new 
‘Preparing for Adulthood’ team. Rather than having separate groups in Children’s 
Services and Adult Social Care there should be a single team that brings together 
professionals from both departments. This team would work with young disabled 
people throughout their transitions journey - from the age of 14 to 25 - ensuring they 
have the support and guidance they need to achieve the best possible outcomes. 
 
1.1 Funding - The team will be funded from pooled budgets from both Children’s 

Services and Adult Social Care but will have the autonomy necessary, through 
delegated powers, for agile decision making. 

 
1.2 Staffing - The team would be multi-disciplinary - including staff currently 

working within Children’s Services, Adult Social Care, and SEN key working in 
Health roles. 

 
1.3 New ways of working - On creation, this new team would lead a review of the 

protocols, procedures, and ways of working around transition to improve their 
clarity, efficiency, and responsiveness. 

 
1.4 Advocacy - There should be a shared understanding of cases to take the 

burden off parents. The new team should have an advocacy and understanding 
role to guide parents through the options and pathways open to them. 

 
1.5 Co-design and accountability - The new service should be co-designed with 

parents and young disabled people and once it is up and running they should 
be able to feed into its management and development. This could be achieved 
through a ‘shadow board’, similar in concept to a board of non-executive 
directors. 

 
 
2. Greater transparency and improved communication 
 
2.1 Communication with young disabled people and parents should be improved. 

They need to understand how decisions are made and why. The young 
person’s pathway and the options available to them should be clear and 
transparent to everyone involved and it should be reviewed on a regular basis. 

Page 37



19 

The end goal should always be in sight and parents and professionals should 
have a shared view. 

 
2.2 The new Preparing for Adulthood team should create a new set of forms and 

documentation that are accessible, clear, and transparent to users. 
 
2.3 The transitions information on the LBHF website should be updated to reflect 

the Preparing for Adulthood team’s new ways of working and to bring it in line 
with best practice examples from around the country. 

 
2.4 The council should encourage partners to sign-up to a ‘duty to communicate’ - 

an agreement that they will be meaningfully involved in discussions at panels 
and annual reviews. If professionals aren’t able to attend meetings they should 
provide written evidence to ensure important decisions are not delayed. 

 
 
3. Empowering professionals 
 
3.1 To ensure panel meetings and annual reviews are meaningful and efficient, the 

council should empower professionals by devolving decision-making down 
wherever possible. Team managers should be trusted to make the right 
decisions. 

 
 
4. Improve the housing pipeline 
 
4.1 The council’s Housing department should work closely with the new 

Preparation for Adulthood team and be involved in the annual assessment 
process. There should be a clear pipeline, using data from the Preparation for 
Adulthood team, to accurately predict the numbers of young disabled people 
coming through the system and their likely housing needs. This would allow for 
clearer communication with parents about their housing options. 

 
  

Page 38



20 

Appendix 1 

Task Group Contributors 
 

Members of the task group 
 
Councillor Rory Vaughan, Chair 
Councillor Caroline Needham 
Councillor Marcus Ginn 
Patrick McVeigh, Action on Disability 
Sarah Markson, Parentsactive 
Peter Harden, expert by experience 
 

Guest experts 
 
Amanda Roles, Senior Manager, HF Mencap 
Cathy Welsh, Headteacher of Jack Tizard School 
Freddie Adu, Headteacher of Queensmill School 
Gabrielle Zepf, Action on Disability 
Gina Gerrard, Parentsactive 
Nandini Ganesh, Parentsactive 
Ranjit Kang, Social Care Lead for Adults in H&F at WLMHT 
Suky Macpherson, Senior Clinician, Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services at 
WLMHT 
Zöe Bloomfield, Clinical Business Unit Manager for 0-19 H&F 
Steve Buckerfield, Head of Joint Health Commissioning, Children's Joint 
Commissioning 
 

Supported by 
 
Councillor Ben Coleman, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care 
Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing  
Steve Miley, Director for Family Services 
Ian Heggs, Director for Education 
Lisa Redfern, Assistant Director of Integrated Care, Adult Social Care 
Mandy Lawson, Assistant Director, SEND and Vulnerable Children's Service 
Jo Baty, Programme Manager, Children’s Services 
Mary Dalton, Head of Complex Needs, Adult Social Care Commissioning 
Viv Whittingham, Head of Care and Assessment Service 
Becky Powell, Commissioning, Transformation and Contracts Lead 
David Burns, Head of Housing Strategy, Housing Growth & Strategy Management 
Lucy Baker, PATHS Manager, Housing Advice and Assessment 
David Abbott, Scrutiny Manager 
 
References 

 A Transition Guide for all Services – Department of Health 2007 

 Transition from children’s to adults’ services for young people using health or 
social care services - NICE guideline (24 February 2016) 

 From the pond into the sea - Children’s transition to adult health services - Care 
Quality Commission (2014)  

Page 39



21 

Appendix 2 

Task Group Work Programme 
 
 
Meeting 1 – 21 January – Terms of Reference 
 
The initial meeting of the task group was used to agree the terms of reference. The 
group was given an initial briefing from officers in Children’s Services and Adult 
Social Care. They then planned a series of meetings on Education, Health, Housing, 
and a final meeting to agree recommendations. 
 
Meeting 2 – 17 March – Schools and Education 
 
The second meeting looked at the effect of the Children and Families Act and the 
Care Act on transitions, and the role of schools. 
 
Cathy Welsh (Headteacher at Jack Tizard School), Freddie Adu (Headteacher at 
Queensmill School), and Nandini Ganesh (Parentsactive) were invited to share their 
experiences of transitions services from the perspective of schools and parents. 
 
Meeting 3 – 28 June - Health and Mental Health 
 
The third meeting looked at Health and Mental Health services. 
 
Ranjit Kang (Social Care Lead at Hammersmith & Fulham/West London Mental 
Health Trust), Zoe Bloomfield (CLCH Clinical Business Unit Manager), and Steve 
Buckerfield (Head of Children's Joint Commissioning - Inner London CCGs and 
Shared Services) attended to provide insight the perspective of local health service 
practitioners and commissioners. 
 
Meeting 4 – 28 November – Housing 
 
Officers from H&F’s Housing Department outlined the current service, the issues 
identified by families of disabled young people, the barriers facing the service, and 
planned improvement projects. 
 
Meeting 4 – 28 March 2017 – Preparation for adulthood team proposal 
 
The final meeting was focused on looking at options for a new ‘preparation for 
adulthood’ team – bringing together resources from Children’s and Adult’s services 
into a single team. The group also agreed their final recommendations. 

Page 40



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CHILDREN AND EDUCATION POLICY AND 

ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

11 September 2017 
 

 

YOUNG PEOPLE’S MENTAL HEALTH TRANSFORMATION PLAN UPDATE 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Education – Councillor Sue 
Macmillan 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For Information 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director:  
Janet Cree - Managing Director Hammersmith and Fulham Clinical Commissioning 
Group 
Rachael Wright-Turner - Director of Children’s Commissioning 
 

Report Author:  
Angela Caulder - CAMHS Joint 
Commissioning Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 3350 4324 
angela.caulder@nw.london.nhs.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. Reports updating Hammersmith and Fulham councillors on transforming 

mental health services for young people have been tabled at the Children and 
Education Policy and Accountability Committee (June 2016), Adult Social 
Care and Social Inclusion Committee (October 2016) and the Health and 
Wellbeing Board (November 2016).  
 

1.2. These reports summarised progress on transforming local Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) since: 
 

 Publication of the national CAMHS Taskforce Report, ‘Future in Mind’1 
(February 2015); 

 

                                            
1
 Published report of the national Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) Taskforce 

2015 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



 Submission of the initial (October 2015) and refreshed (October 2016) 
Hammersmith and Fulham’s ‘Children and Young People’s Mental 
Health ‘Transformation Plan’, and 

 

 The Hammersmith and Fulham CAMHS Taskforce2 Report (Spring 
2016). 

 
1.3 The initial CAMHS Transformation Plan submitted to NHS England in October 

2015 secured additional CCG funding to improve young peoples’ mental 
health services.  NHS England requires CCGs to ‘refresh’ CAMHS 
Transformation Plans on an annual basis.  In October 2016 a ‘refreshed’ plan 
was submitted to NHS England and transformation funding confirmed for 
2017-18. 

 
1.4 To secure funding beyond April 2018, an updated Hammersmith and Fulham 

CAMHS Transformation Plan must be with NHS England by October 31st 
2017.  The revised plan will be presented to Cllr Coleman, Health and 
Wellbeing Board Chair, to review and sign off at the beginning of October 
2017. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. The Hammersmith and Fulham Children and Education Policy and 

Accountability Committee is asked to note and support the continued progress 
being made in improving mental health services for local young people.  
 

2.2. The committee is also asked to acknowledge that whilst considerable 
progress has been made, several challenges remain which need to be tackled 
over the next three years.  

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

 
3.1. The recommendations above acknowledge that work is well underway in 

implementing Hammersmith and Fulham’s CAMHS Transformation Plan, 
improving mental health services for young people, in line with the 
expectations of ‘Future in Mind’. 
 

3.2. Further work is planned to tackle local and national priorities building on the 
recommendations of the Hammersmith and Fulham CAMHS Taskforce. 

 
4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 

Hammersmith and Fulham CAMHS Taskforce  
 

4.1. The Hammersmith and Fulham CAMHS Taskforce led by Cllr Alan De’Ath 
held workshops with young people, providers and partners in 2015 and 
reported in the Spring of 2016. The taskforce report laid the foundations and 

                                            
2
 A link to the H&F CAMHS Taskforce Report 2016 can be found in section 13. 

Page 42



also complemented the emerging Hammersmith and Fulham CAMHS 
Transformation Plan. 
 

4.2. The Taskforce made five recommendations: 
 

 Improve access, support and information   

 Strengthen training for children’s workforce 

 Improve transition arrangements 

 Develop a clear Hammersmith and Fulham Transformation Plan  

 Sign up to the Mental Health Challenge 
 
4.3. The recommendations were endorsed by the Children and Education Policy 

and Accountability Committee on 13 June 2016.  The recommendations and 
their incorporation into the developing CAMHS Transformation Plan are 
summarised below. 
 

4.4. Access, support and information to services: Improving access to mental 
health services and making it easy to find support and information has been 
addressed in several ways.  
 

4.5. Firstly, emotional wellbeing and mental health services for young people and 
their families were mapped in late 2016. This data has been sense checked 
with young people to ensure the language is accessible and is now being 
incorporated into the published ‘Local Offer’ on the council’s website.   
 

4.6. The council’s investment in mental health services for young people is going 
to be integrated into the emerging new integrated Family Support Service, 
which brings together early intervention, early years and youth services.  
 

4.7. Furthermore, Hammersmith and Fulham MIND, Rethink, Mencap and the 
Octavia Society are being funded by the CAMHS Transformation Plan to 
deliver training and support for young people through schools and community 
provision. 

 
4.8. Training: The Tri-borough children and young people’s workforce training 

programme went live on 1 April 2016. It offers free mental health training for 
any professional working with children and young people in Hammersmith and 
Fulham, including GP’s, teachers, youth workers, social workers and the 
voluntary sector. It continues to be delivered by a range of multi-agency 
mental health experts working locally. This includes young mental health 
champions – ‘experts by experience’.  The programme is published on the 
local authority training and development website pages, and with ‘Healthy 
Schools’. 
 

4.9. Transitions: West London Mental Health Trust (WLMHT) which provides 
mental health services for young people in the borough have revised their 
transition practice in line with the 2016 NICE Transition Guidance.  
 

Page 43



4.10. In addition, as part of a new pilot project with Mencap for 14 to 20 year olds 
with learning disabilities, a transitions worker will help young people access 
and navigate adult disability and mental health services.  
 

4.11. Hammersmith and Fulham CAMHS Transformation Plan: A Hammersmith 
and Fulham CAMHS Transformation Plan has been in place for the last two 
years. The current plan has four guiding priorities which are described in more 
detail below: 
 

 Eating Disorder Service 

 Service Redesign 

 Improving Crisis Care 

 Learning Disability, ADHD and Autism 
 
4.12. Mental Health Challenge: The Mental Health Challenge calls on local 

authorities and partners to adopt key roles in improving mental health 
services. The challenge was accepted by the Borough and the lead member 
is Cllr Coleman with the corresponding CCG lead being Steve Buckerfield, the 
Head of Children’s Joint Commissioning.    
 
CAMHS Transformation Plans 
 

4.13. The Government’s CAMHS National Taskforce Report Future in Mind made 
49 recommendations for improvement.  NHS England require CCG’s to 
submit annual refreshed plans demonstrating local progress.  Hammersmith 
and Fulham CCG have approached this task in collaboration with their seven 
neighbouring North West London CCGs. 
 
Progress 2015-17 
 

4.14. In addition to the four priorities set out above, NHS England has recently 
added a fifth:  

 

 Reducing Waiting Lists 
 
4.15 During 2016 the Anna Freud Centre completed a CAMHS Needs Assessment      

which included consultation with parents, young people, and multi-agency    
partners. This informed the refresh of plans in 2016-17 and continues to 
underpin local developments.  
 

4.16 In addition to the Needs Assessment several short term pilots were initiated to 
test new projects, working with the voluntary sector to deliver mental health 
and family support in schools and community centres; reducing waiting lists 
for learning disability assessments; training in schools, and introducing 
mindfulness practice and training to teachers.  Most of these initiatives have 
continued with the successful providers being commissioned for 2016-18. 

 
  Eating Disorders: 
 

Page 44



4.17 WLMHT established a community eating disorder service for children and 
young people under 18 in February 2016, in line with national standards.3  
This is a joint venture with Hounslow and Ealing CAMHS, sharing staff 
expertise and clinics. Commissioners are currently reviewing the service with 
input from Rethink Young Champions. 

 
  Service Redesign:  
 
4.18 The Hammersmith and Fulham CAMHS service has not been fundamentally 

redesigned. So far redesign work has focused on expanding training, piloting 
more flexible service delivery and access opportunities and incorporating the 
additional expectations set out below. 

 
4.19   A sustainable training programme is available for the young people’s  

workforce across Hammersmith and Fulham. Council staff, the voluntary 
sector and young people themselves provide input for schools, children 
centres, nurseries and a wide range of other partners.  The aim is to enhance 
prevention, early intervention and identification, as well as improving the 
quality of referrals to CAMHS. 

 
4.20   The national CAMHS School Link Project4 was piloted in Hammersmith and  

Fulham for 18 months with14 schools, in 2015-17. Commissioners are now 
working with the council and WLMHT to look at how delivering mental health 
services through schools can be sustained. Hammersmith and Fulham MIND 
are also delivering direct input to young people in schools and colleges. 

 
4.21 Health Education Partnership (Public Health’s Healthy Schools programme), 

have begun training senior school staff to take a lead role in mental health for 
their school.  This links to a recommendation from the Anna Freud Needs 
Assessment suggesting every school should have a mental health lead. 
Schools are also encouraged to develop their own mental health strategy with 
an action plan to establish a whole school approach to mental health. 

 
4.22 Additionally, working with council commissioning staff and WLMHT, plans are 

being developed to incorporate young people’s mental health staff into the 
new Hammersmith and Fulham Family Support Service. This will break new 
ground and will in part drive further re-design processes. 

 
  Improving Crisis Care: 
 
4.23 Emergency mental health support for young people has been strengthened, 

particularly for Out of Hours, during the evening, weekends and on bank 
holidays.  Psychiatric doctors and nurses work together to deliver assessment 
and treatment at Chelsea and Westminster, St. Mary’s and Charing Cross 
hospitals for Hammersmith and Fulham young people. Central and North 
West London Foundation Trust (CNWL) assess the majority of Hammersmith 

                                            
3
 One week wait for urgent referrals, and all other cases to be seen within 4 weeks.  Additionally, self- 

referrals from parents and young people. 
4
 Supported by time limited NHS England and H&F CCG funding 

Page 45



and Fulham young people who present out of hours to Chelsea and 
Westminster Hospital. 

 
4.24 A review of the Out of Hours service is being completed with input from 

Rethink Young Champions, mental health providers and commissioners. 
 
4.25 CCG commissioning staff have drafted a new 24/7 crisis care service 

specification that is currently out to consultation. This integrates the ‘in-hours’ 
and ‘out of hours’ crisis response to ensure that the quality of provision is 
compliant with Healthy London Partnership Crisis Care Guidelines published 
in 2016. 

 
  Learning Disability, ADHD and Autism: 
 
4.26 Multi-agency pathway reviews for Learning Disability, ADHD and Autism are 

underway, led by additional short term commissioning resource funded by 
Hammersmith and Fulham CCG. 

 
4.27 Also, a Transitions post for those young people aged 14-20 with mental health 

problems, autism and or a learning disability is being established to support 
young people at risk of falling between services as they approach adulthood. 
Hammersmith and Fulham Mencap and WLMHT have been commissioned to 
pilot the post and close this gap. 

 
4.28 Furthermore, Positive Behaviour Support training has been commissioned 

from NHS England and is being rolled out for parents and carers, CAMHS and 
Social Care staff in the borough.  The objective is to ensure that there is a 
common understanding of the Positive Behavioural Support strategies that 
have proved effective in managing challenging behaviour.  

 
  Waiting lists: 
 
4.29 Tackling long waiting times for young people’s mental health services is a 

national priority.  WLMHT ensure that young people do not wait longer than 
18 weeks for treatment, in line with the NHS standard.  This means in practice 
that by 5 months the majority of children and young people will have been 
seen twice by Hammersmith and Fulham CAMHS.  

4.30   The longest current waits have been with the community CAMHS service, who 
see young people with mild to moderate mental health problems; and with the 
specialist CAMHS team who carry out specialist assessments for learning 
disabilities and ADHD. Additional funds were made available from NHS 
England and the CCG in November 2016 to assist WLMHT with reducing 
waiting lists for this work. This work is continuing throughout 2017-18.  

 
5. Next Steps: 2017-2020 

 
5.1. Service redesign work continues with the focus of enhancing prevention 

and early intervention CAMHS, in order to manage increasing demand.  
Enhanced training and delivery in schools is key to this aim, and the voluntary 
sector provision will be expanded to include new providers, for e.g. Mencap, 

Page 46



Xenzone and the Octavia Foundation joining current CAMHS local providers, 
MIND, Rethink and West London Action for Children. 
 

5.2. Implementing Mental Health Leads in schools is a priority for 
commissioners across North West London.  In Hammersmith and Fulham this 
work is already underway with Health Education Partnership supporting 
schools to identify a mental health lead who is offered training to develop and 
sustain the role. Opportunities for networking with the School Nurse service 
will also be explored. 
 

5.3. The Hammersmith and Fulham council are developing the integration of Early 
Help, Early Years, Health Visiting, School Nursing and Youth Services.  
Commissioners and the council plan to co-locate the Primary Mental Health 
Community CAMHS team provided by WLMHT with the new Family Support 
Service (FSS) model later in the year. 
 

5.4. A new model of care for young people with serious mental health 
problems is under development with WLMHT and CNWL. This NHS England 
CAMHS pilot has several aims:   
 

 to reduce the number of young people sent outside London for an 
inpatient bed,  

 to reduce the amount of time a young person is in hospital and  

 to develop assertive outreach community care to prevent young people 
needing an inpatient bed.   

 
Hammersmith and Fulham CCG is investing funds for 2017-20 to assist with 
this exciting project. 

 
5.5. The sustainable training programme plans to include parents in ‘train the 

trainers’ programmes, particularly managing adolescent challenging 
behaviour from those young people with learning disabilities and autism. 
 

5.6. The learning disabilities and autism pathways work is also a focus for 
2017-18. The aim is to publish agreed multi-agency pathways for CAMHS 
learning disabilities, ADHD and Autism. These pathways all have key 
interdependencies with council children’s social care, SEN, schools and 
colleges. 
  

5.7. Co-production work with young people aims to strengthen links between 
Young Champions, schools and the Youth Council. Also, planning is 
underway for the second Young People’s Mental Health Conference 
scheduled for November 2017. 
 

5.8. Digital technology and mental health opportunities are being explored 
nationally and locally in Hammersmith and Fulham. The challenge is to avoid 
duplication, mapping what works and is appealing for young people. Young 

Page 47



Champions and partners are working with ‘Coders and Founders’5 to assess a 
range of available apps and explore whether a bespoke Hammersmith and 
Fulham solution is required. 
 

5.9. Finally, joint Transformation and council funding is supporting a 12 month pilot 
for young people’s on-line counselling, commissioning the ‘Kooth’ service 
from Xenzone. Kooth goes live in local schools in September 2017 offering 
access to information and support 24/7.  Young people will be able to book a 
telephone appointment or text a counsellor, take part in moderated focus 
groups, and access quality information and support from their mobile phone.    
 

6. CONSULTATION 
 

6.1. Hammersmith and Fulham Young People’s Mental Health Alliance6 meetings 
have continued, and are attended by a range of multi-agency partners, 
commissioners, providers, parents and young champions. These partnership 
meetings occur quarterly and discuss CAMHS delivery and the development 
of CAMHS Transformation Plans.  

 
6.2. The next meeting on the 12th October 2017 will look at the refreshed CAMHS 

Transformation Plan, prior to submission to NHS England. 
 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1. An equality impact assessment was completed as part of the original 
submission of the Transformation Plan to NHS England.   

 
7.2. The Equality assessment highlights that young people with mental health 

problems can face discrimination and inequitable opportunities.  The 
improvements detailed in the plan specifically aim to improve support for 
vulnerable Hammersmith and Fulham  young people, and the inclusion of 
voluntary sector support, mental health training,  and community support in 
schools aims to reduce stigma associated with mental health problems. 
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1. There are no legal implications. 
 

9. FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The financial allocations and the CCG’s spend from the NHS England  
           funding for the successful submission of the transformation plans are detailed  
           below.  
 
9.2 Planned spend for 2017-18 is also outlined below: 

 

                                            
5
 Not for Profit digital development company in partnership with Thrive London, and the Anna Freud 

Centre 
6
 Hammersmith & Fulham young people’s mental health forum 

Page 48



CAMHS Priorities  
and Finance 

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 (Funds 
commissioned 

from 
WLMHT)7 

TOTALS 

Total Allocation  
from NHS E to CCG 
 

£352,918 £572,030 £527,030 - £1,451,9788 

1. Needs Assessment 
 

£27,541 £0 £0 £0 £27,541 

2. Co-production9 
 

£20,667 £0 £0 £0 £20,667 

3. Training workforce10 
 

£53,981 £0 £0 £0 £53,981 

4. Eating Disorders 
 

£30,485 £106,000 £106,000 (£237,485)11 £242,485 

5. Redesign pathways 
 

£40,816 £209,350 £193,700 (£147,962) £301,796 

6. Learning Disability  
     ADHD and Autism 
 

£110,392 £179,680 £81,300 (£185,104) £371,372 

7. Crisis Care 
 

£3,768 £32,500 £145,000 (£74,000) £181,268 

8. Embedding  
    Future in Mind12  
 

£51,784 £0 £0 £0 £51,784 

9. Reducing Waiting  
     lists13 
 

£0 £44,500 £0 (£44,500) £44,500 

Total Spend by CCG £339,35414 £572,030 £527,030 (£689,051) £1,438,41415 
 

      
10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

 
10.1. There are no business implications arising from this update report. 
 
11. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

                                            
7
 As WLMHT is the main provider of CAMHS in LBHF this column shows how much of the allocation 

was commissioned from the Trust. 
8
 Total allocation to CCG financial baseline from NHS England. 

9
 No longer a separate priority in years 2016-18, co-production became embedded throughout the 

plan as an ‘enabler’. 
10

 No longer a separate priority, now included in redesigning pathways’. 
11

 In 2016-17 a small amount of funding was spent on training staff in Eating Disorder work. 
12

 No longer a separate priority, now included in ‘redesigning pathways’. 
13

 This was in year money for 2016-17 only. 
14

 There was underspend due to funds arriving from NHS England in December 2015 leaving the 
Trust only three months to implement the new Eating Disorder service.  Recruitment was very 
challenging.  
15

 Total funds available to be spent on CAMHS 2015-18.  

Page 49



11.1. There are no commercial implications arising from this update report. 
 

12. OTHER IMPLICATION PARAGRAPHS 
 

12.1. There are no other implications arising from this update report. 
 

13. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 
The Hammersmith and Fulham CAMHS Taskforce Report (2016) can be 
found at the following link: 
http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/documents/s80869/CAMHS_Taskforce_2016.pdf 

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix One: Hammersmith and Fulham CCG, Local Information and 

Implementation Plans for Hammersmith and Fulham CCG and 
the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham (2016) 

 

Page 50

http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/documents/s80869/CAMHS_Taskforce_2016.pdf


                                                                                                          

1 
 

 
ANNEX D: HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM CCG 
 
Local information and implementation plans for Hammersmith and Fulham CCG and the London 
Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
 

1. Background 
 

In March 2015 the government published Future in Mind, their strategy for promoting, protecting and 
improving our children and young people’s mental health. Additional funding was allocated with the 
guidance to invest in children and young people’s mental health services. In order to access this 
funding, CCGs were tasked with developing local transformation plans which set out a vision for 
transformation over five years, in collaboration with partner agencies.  The original plans were 
finalised in October 2015 and outlined a sustainable, phased approach to implementation. Across 
North West London the eight CCG’s collaborated, with support from the Like Minded team, to 
deliver a single plan that defined our joint priorities.  
 
This formal refresh aims to provide assurance, demonstrate how progress is being made, provide 
evidence on how services are being transformed and ensure funding is being spent as plans 
develop further.   
 
Our ambition for this transformation plan is that by the end of 2020 the children and young people of 
North West London will see a transformed service that better suits their needs, and they will be able 
to access services at the right time, right place with the right offer in a welcoming environment.  We 
want our new model to be sustainable beyond 2020 – to ensure that future children and our future 
workforce continue to receive and provide the best quality care we know makes a significant 
difference.  
 
In the original LTP 8 priority areas were specified:- 
 

 Priority 1: Needs Assessment  

 Priority 2: Supporting Co-production 

 Priority 3: Workforce Development and Training 

 Priority 4: Community Eating Disorders Service 

 Priority 5: Redesigning Pathways 

 Priority 6: Enhanced Support for Learning Disabilities and Neurodevelopmental Disorders 

 Priority 7: Crisis and Urgent Care Pathways 

 Priority 8: Embedding Future in Mind Locally 
 

From these priorities, local transformation plans in 2015-16 successfully delivered:- 
   

 Co-production work with young people,    

 Reduction of waiting times for Specialist CAMHS 

 A new Out of Hours Crisis service for young people   

 A new children and young people’s community eating disorder service. 

 Role enhancement of schools in emotional well-being services  

 Mental health training to schools and partner agencies 
 
In April 2016, to address Priority 1, the Anna Freud Centre (AFC) was commissioned to undertake a 
needs assessment across North West London. The aim of the exercise was to:- 

 Undertake an in-depth analysis of the mental health needs of children and young people 
across Hammersmith and Fulham. 

Page 51



                                                                                                          

2 
 

 Evaluate the range of services and supports that are available, including the skills and 
knowledge of staff working with children and young people.  

 Identify the needs of Hammersmith and Fulham in relation to the provision of services 
offered. 

 
Following an interim report, a strategic seminar took place for Hammersmith and Fulham partners in 
September 2016. The seminar aimed to facilitate identification of local priorities and promote an 
integrated approach to service delivery.  The findings are scheduled to be delivered in a final report 
by the beginning of November 2016 to H & F CCG CAMHS Commissioners. As the needs 
assessment is almost complete, this area is no longer a priority for future years. 
 
Continuing areas of work to progress into future years are: 
 

 To drive forward delivery of the CYP IAPT programme. CNWL are already increasing the 
numbers of staff trained in CYP IAPT evidence based treatments; 

 To invest in developing more robust data capture and clinical systems to enable 
commissioners and providers to have a joint clearer understanding of current activity and 
projections; 

 
As the plans in 2016-17 progressed to address the remaining priorities, it became clear three 
priorities: co-production, workforce development and embedding Future in Mind underpinned the 
transformation programme as a whole. It was therefore decided at a LTP review meeting in early 
September to reduce the priority areas from 8 to 4, focussing on the following agreed areas:  
 

 Priority 1: Community Eating Disorders Service 

 Priority 2: Transforming Pathways and Redesigning services 

 Priority 3:  Learning Disabilities and Neurodevelopmental Disorders 

 Priority 4: Crisis and Urgent Care Pathways 
 

Other local priorities: 

 For Hammersmith and Fulham, this was particularly around the School/CAMHS National 
Health Link Pilot which developed a Mental Health Lead in 10 schools with a CAMHS clinical 
link who spent weekly time at the school.  The school received nationally evaluated mental 
health training and support. The pilot is being nationally and locally evaluated, alongside 14 
other national pilot sites.    

 
The financial allocation for North West London, and Hammersmith and Fulham CCG specifically for 
16/17 is as follows: 

 Eating Disorders 
16/17 

Transformation 
Plan 16/17 

Recurrent 
uplift 

Brent  £173,000 £420,000 £593,000 

Central London £91,557 £307,823 £399,380 

Ealing £211,543 £630,997 £842,540 

Hammersmith and Fulham £100,744 £328,186 £428,930 

Harrow £121,785 £304,840 £426,625 

Hillingdon £149,760 £374,863 £524,623 

Hounslow £152,983 £382,931 £535,913 

West London  £116,621 £369,509 £486,130 

Total  £1,117,993 £3,119,149 £4,237,141 

 
 
 

Page 52



                                                                                                          

3 
 

2. Our local offer 
 
Hammersmith& Fulham young people requiring mental health services are supported by West 
London Mental Health Trust (WLMHT) who deliver both school focused early intervention 
community services and specialist CAMHS for diagnosis and treatment of mental health disorders. 
The WLMHT team of approximately 30 staff includes psychiatrists, psychiatric nurses, family 
therapists, psychotherapists and psychologists. The team actively supports between 500-600 local 
young people but see many more in the course of a year. 
 
Hammersmith & Fulham Council fund mental health staff to support looked after and youth 
offending young people and their families and carers; and early intervention staff working in 
Hammersmith and Fulham schools .  Current council resources are under review, and the council’s 
Early Help services are being restructured.  There are future proposals to include health services as 
part of a joined up children’s Early Help offer.  This is likely to include some CAMHS provision.  
 
The local authority also contributes funding to young people’s mental health in the borough, by 
directly employing Systemic Family Psychotherapists. These clinicians are embedded in the social 
care delivery, to support social workers involved with those children and young people and families 
who have active social work involvement in their lives. 
 
In-patient psychiatric beds for young people are commissioned by NHS England’s Specialist 
Commissioning and NHS E data indicates that 45 Hammersmith & Fulham young people were 
admitted in 2014-15. As part of NHSE New Models of Programme WLMHT and CNWL are working 
in partnership with the Priory Group to enable CYP who require access to inpatient services to be 
admitted locally. The programme will also look to develop community services to ensure CYP have 
access to home treatment programmes.. 
 
 

2016/17  Investment in Children and Young People’s Mental Health  

 Clinical 
Commissioning 

Group 

NHSE (Tier 4 CAMHS) Local 
Authority 

Hammersmith & Fulham £2,010,863 £⃰ £362,830 

Total  £⃰ 

*As NHS England has not yet provided the 2016/17 Tier 4 investment, we are unable to provide the 
spend. Plans will be updated upon the receipt of the information. 
 
 

Page 53



                                                                                                          

4 
 

 
 
 

3. Children and young people’s mental health transformation plan 
 
The table below outlines the shared components of our plans, as well as local detail specific to Hammersmith and Fulham CCG.  
 

Priority  Priority 
Description 

Implementation Plans             2016/17 Investment 

1 

 
Community 

Eating 
Disorder 
Service  

 

North West London Common Approach: 
A new, separate eating disorders service has been developed 
that has care pathway provision and seamless referral routes to 
ensure quick, easy access to the service. This service is already 
delivering the new national specification for eating disorder 
services, offering a 5 day service for young people aged 0-18th 
birthday who have a suspected or confirmed eating disorder 
diagnosis.  It accepts referrals from any professional in the local 
area, and also self-referrals from young people and families. 
 
The aim of the service is to see all young people referred within 
4 weeks of referral, with a wait of no more than one week for 
urgent cases. Our intention is to market test this service in 
2017/18 and to investigate offering a 7 day service. 

Investment: £100,744 
 
A new community eating disorders service 
was launched on 1 April 2016. 
Hammersmith and Fulham young people 
are seen at the WLMHT ‘hub’ at Ealing 
CAMHS in Armstrong Way for multi-
disciplinary assessment, and for follow-up at 
the Hammersmith and Fulham ‘spoke’ at 
Glenthorne Road in Hammersmith..  
 
With minor amendments, the pilot is due to 
be adopted as business as usual from 1 
April 2017 within a two year contract with 
the Trust. 

 
 

2 

 
Redesigning  
Pathways – 
A Tier free 

system  
 

2016-2020 CAMHS Re-design: 
We will move away from tiered services to services that meet 
the needs of the child/young person and the family. Broadly, our 
new proposed model will be based on the Thrive Model which 
has been recommended to us by the Anna Freud Centre in the 
West London CCG Interim Report.1 

Investment: £199,026 
This includes: 

£11K  
Learn Well is a MIND 6 module psycho- 
educational programme which builds 
resilience, promotes positive practices and 

                                                           
1
 Wolpert, M., Harris, R., Hodges, S., Fuggle, P., James, R., Wiener, A., . . . Fonagy, P. (2015). THRIVE Elaborated. London: CAMHS Press  

http://www.annafreud.org/media/3214/thrive-elaborated-2nd-edition29042016.pdf 
 

P
age 54

http://www.annafreud.org/media/3214/thrive-elaborated-2nd-edition29042016.pdf
http://www.annafreud.org/media/3214/thrive-elaborated-2nd-edition29042016.pdf


                                                                                                          

5 
 

 

 
 

 
This includes: 

 

 Evidence based treatments delivered by all CAMHS 
services. 

 A Multiple Access Point model (MAP) to connect 
schools, GP’s, the local authority and the voluntary 
sector with a Mental Health Lead in the area. 

adaptive coping skills to reduce stress and 
increase confidence in YP.  
 
£4K 
Training programme delivered by 
Educational Psychology for 30 support 
assistants in schools to become Emotional 
Literacy Support Workers to improve 
learning.  
 
£16K Schools and £13K Nurseries 
Public Health Healthy Schools Programme 
which supports early years and schools to 
make improvements to health and 
wellbeing. 
 
£32K 
Rethink co-production recruitment and 
supervision to support 15 young champions. 
 
£46K 
‘Schools/CAMHS pilot’. Mental Health 
named Leads in schools linking with 
WLMHT clinicians who offer each school 2 
hours input each week. This offer has been 
extended to a further four schools and all 14 
schools involved will increase input until 
March 2017. 
 
£10K 
MIND Educational support offered to YP 
aged 14 to 25 who are transitioning in their 
lives.  Email, telephone and 1:1 sessions 
can be accessed via self-referral.  

P
age 55



                                                                                                          

6 
 

 School based Mental Health Lead to develop 
emotional wellbeing and resilience  

 Multi-agency risk management approach to working 
with high risk, hard to engage young people before they 
can engage with mental health treatment. 

 A Tapered Transition Model will be developed for all 
young people from 14 -25 years in future years.  

 A new CYP IAPT programme to train up lower grade 
staff has been launched.  Hammersmith and Fulham 
Specialist CAMHS is interested in being a part of this 
new initiative which will need funding from 
commissioners for future years. 

 An extension to the successful national CAMHS School 
Link Pilot in Hammersmith and Fulham. 

 By 1 April 2017 a sustainable CAMHS training 
programme will be bookable on-line for any 
professional across the boroughs of Kensington and 
Chelsea, Hammersmith and Fulham and Westminster. 
There will also be a parents’ programme. 

 The successful Co-production training programme, 
‘Collective Voices’ with Rethink young mental health 
champions jointly with WLMHT will be rolled out to 
additional schools. 

 The Hammersmith and Fulham CAMHS Partnership 
Alliance will be re-launched in November 2016. This will 
aim to spread responsibility and knowledge of young 
people’s mental health across agencies. 

 
£20K 
Educational Psychology and WLMHT led 
multi agency training in CAMHS available 
for all tri-borough professionals.  
 
£12K  
Co-production with current users of H & F 
CAMHS WLMHT services.  
 
£35K 
CYP IAPT Clinical backfill for WLMHT 
community CAMHS clinicians to train in 
evidence based practice, and project 
management for the Trust. 
 

3 

Learning 
Disabilities 
and Neuro 

Development 
Disorders  

 

North West London Common Approach: 
Work is underway across NW London to align to the adult 
learning disability programme workstream to ensure smooth 
transition and consistency of care.  
 
Hammersmith and Fulham CCG and Local Authority Local 

2016-17 Investment: £89,160 
Hammersmith and Fulham is working in 
partnership with the Local authority to 
develop a high quality integrated model 
which pools resources and ensures access 
to the right intervention at the right time. 

P
age 56



                                                                                                          

7 
 

 
 
 
 

Learning 
Disabilities 
and Neuro 

Development 
Disorders 

Approach: 
H & F CCG will invest in additional capacity across the whole 
system for LD and ND pathways. This will be in collaboration 
with WLMHT, the Local Authority Children with Disability and 
Learning Disability teams; child development service and 
voluntary sector providers. 
 
 Map local care pathways and  reconfigure services  
 Develop an effective strategic link between CAMHS 

Learning Disabilities/Neurodevelopmental (LD/ND) services 
and special educational needs (SEN) departments.  

 Enhance the capacity of CAMHS to meet the increasing 
demand for ASD and ADHD assessments.  

 Provide advice and support to special schools and 
specialist units  

 Connect with local voluntary sector services and support 
groups for young people with LD/ND and their families (e.g. 
parent-run ASD support group). 

 

 
£30,000 
CCG staffing – project manager to review 
LD and ND pathways across 3 CCG’s with 
partner agencies. To produce options paper 
leading to recommendations for 
commissioners. 
 
£58,800 
WLMHT project to reduce internal waiting 
times for follow up appointments, and 
smooth out pathways between agencies. 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 

Crisis and 
Urgent Care 
Pathways 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

North West London Common Approach: 
We aim to ensure that our local offer of support and intervention 
for young people reflects the Mental Health Crisis Care 
Concordat. We will also implement clear, evidence-based 
pathways for community-based care, including where resources 
allow, home treatment teams and crisis response services to 
ensure that unnecessary admissions to inpatient care are 
avoided. 
As part of NHSE New Models of Programme WLMHT and 
CNWL are working in partnership with the Priory Group to 
ensure CYP who require access to bedded services can be 
admitted locally. The programme will also look to develop 
community services to ensure CYP have access intensive 
treatment programmes which deliver high quality effective care 
at home. 

2016-17 Investment: £32,600 
 

An out of hour’s crisis pilot service was 
implemented in February 2016. The service 
was initially provided by WLMHT and 
scheduled to run until February 2017.  
Review of the pilot has been undertaken 
and an interim amended model has been 
agreed. The reconfigured model will 
become business as usual in early January 
2017 and will run until April 2018 after which 
formal evaluation will occur.  

P
age 57



                                                                                                          

8 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Crisis and 
Urgent Care 
Pathways 

 
 
 

Hammersmith and Fulham CCG and Local Authority Local 
Approach: 
 
The implementation of an out of hours crisis pilot was initiated in 
January 2016 by CNWL across Westminster, Kensington and 
Chelsea, Hillingdon, Harrow and Brent. This was not funded by 
transformation monies but by each of the eight CCG’s 
separately. 
 
For future years a new service will comprise crisis response and 
home treatment services and will build on existing work to 
develop a complete urgent care pathway. We will also work with 
colleagues in locality authority, public health, and schools to 
ensure that the prevention of self-harm and crisis avoidance via 
good mental health promotion forms part of this pathway. Where 
possible, we will look to work with existing home treatment 
teams to incorporate CAMHS skills and training into existing 
services.  
 

 

 
Due to young people presenting at Chelsea 
and Westminster Hospital from 1 November 
2016 the service will be commissioned 
through CNWL. £32K has been reserved to 
pay for this newly commissioned model until 
March 2017. 
 

 

P
age 58



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 
POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
11 September 2017  

FOSTERING, ADOPTION AND PERMANENCE 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Education – Councillor Sue 
Macmillan 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
Key Decision: No  
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Steve Miley, Director for Children’s Services 
 

Report Author: Sally Pillay, Head of the 
Fostering & Adoption Service 

Contact Details: 
E-mail: sally.pillay@rbkc.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report provides an overview of the work the Fostering and Adoption Service 

has undertaken during 2016/17 and to date in 2017/18. It highlights innovations 
planned to strengthen practice, that will place the service in a strong position to 
build on current achievements. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. The Committee is asked to review and comment upon the contents of this report. 

 
3. Adoption and Permanency Performance Data for the year ending 31st March 

2017 and to date in 2017/18  
 
3.1 Currently there are 16 adopters approved and awaiting a match. A further 12 

children are placed with our adopters and awaiting an adoption order (2 are in 
house children and 10 are children from other local authorities – traded adopters). 
There are 14 adopters in the assessment process.  

 
3.2 The tables below detail the numbers of children adopted, adopters recruited and 

Special Guardianship Orders granted across the three boroughs in 2016/17 and to 
date in 2017-18 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9

mailto:sally.pillay@rbkc.gov.uk


2016/17 

 
No of children 
adopted 

18 

No of adopters 
recruited 

18 approved 

No of adopters still 
in assessment  

11 in 
assessment 

 

No of SGO orders 
granted 

18 

 
1st April 2017 to July 2017   

 
No of children 
adopted 

3 

No of children 
matched and 
awaiting order  

9 

No of children with 
plan of adoption 

6 

No of adopters 
recruited 

4 approved in 
this period 

No of adopters in 
assessment  

14 

No of SGO orders 
granted 

2 

 
3.3 As a result of national case law the number of children coming through needing 

adoption has fallen across the country – consequently the service had more 
adopters than was needed locally. Other Local Authorities who had been less 
successful in their recruitment of adopters had children their could not place buying 
adopters. Trading in house adopters for 2016/2017 brought in £656,700. 
Approximately half this income has been received and the balance is due in this 
financial year to the 3 boroughs. The service has also purchased placements to the 
value of £100,000 however the costs in this regard was reclaimed from DfE grant 
funding.  

 
3.4 There has been a 50% increase, in the number of dual approvals (adopter/foster 

carer) reflecting the increasing use of early permanence placements for infants. 
There service has approved 1 dual approved carer for this financial year.  
 

3.5 There were 11 placements for adoption (the same as in 2015 – 2016) 3 of which 
were Hammersmith and Fulham children. There were no transracial placements; all 
placements were either a close racial/ethnic and cultural match or well placed to 
promote the child’s racial/ethnic and cultural identity.  

 
3.5 There was only 1 child placed in a permanent fostering placement. In this case the 

child had been with the same foster carers for 3 years 
 

Plans for Adoption -  Agency Decision Maker (ADM) decision  
 

Page 60



3.6 In 2016/17 a total of 16 children had ADM plans for adoption a reduction on the 
previous year where there were 23 children with plans for adoption. The table below 
details the plans for adoption at a borough level across the 3 authorities. 

 

WCC 7 (2 sibling group of 2, 2 single children and 1 relinquished baby) 

LBHF 7 (1 sibling group of 4 and 3 single children)  

RBKC 2 single children 

 
3.7 In general, this is a service that was rated outstanding by Ofsted at the last 

inspection. Moreover, the DfE reported that they are expecting London to have a 
fully functional adoption regionalised model by 2020 and the shared service is in 
essence working towards merging within this model of service delivery. However, 
this is still subject to the final model and governance arrangements that are yet to 
be finalised. 

 
Fostering 

 

4.1 Key outcomes for the service in 2016/17 and to date in 2017/18  

 The recruitment of 24 new foster carers. (18 scheme carers and 6 dual approved 

-fostering and adoption) This is the first time the service has recruited more than 

15 Foster Carers within a year.  

 6 new foster carer households were approved from April to August 2017 with one 

additional dual approved carer. There are 8 current assessments in stage 2 that 

are expected to be approved before December2017. Additionally, there is a 

further 6 cases that have completed skills to foster and are awaiting stage 1 

checks before proceeding to stage 2 of the assessment process.  

 The Fostering Team has made more than 80% placements in house with a total 

of 206 households for the 16/17 financial year.  

 A total of 103 full assessments were completed by the service in respect of 

connected persons. An increase of 21 compared to the previous year where the 

number of full assessments was 82.  

 
4.2 The table below details how many enquiries led to the successful approval of foster  

carers in 2016/17 and progress to date for this year. (August 2017) 

Year Total 
No of 
Enquiries 

Average 
per  
Month  

Approved 
Foster Carer 
Households 

Dual 
Approved  
Carers 

Total  
Approved 

Conversion rate 
without dual 
approved Carers 

16/17 446 37 18 6 24 4.04 

17/18 
YTD 148 29.6 6 1 7 4.05 

 

Campaigns and marketing to increase the recruitment of foster carers  

4.3 The Fostering and Adoption Service has developed a broad marketing plan that 

targets a range of different communities from a diverse ethnic and cultural 

background. During 2016/17 the digital and community events resulted in the most 

Page 61



number of conversations to foster carers. Therefore, the campaigns this year have 

focussed on building on that success and looked to have a stronger on line 

presence given the range of different providers for potential carers to select.  

4.4 Improvements to campaign and marketing activity are: 
 

 To create a buzz around a video to raise awareness of the need for more Foster 
Carers, to be promoted on social media and our website 

 Focus on digital channels to target the “right person at the right moment” with 
importance placed on generating leads that are more likely to result in an approval. 

 Improve communication in terms of generating the right messages (language and 
frequency) as well as skills and capacity in delivering that message by staff and 
through social media.  
o Find the right tone to address people  
o Find the relevant information, what matters to people 
o Dispel the myths around fostering (i.e. that single people can't foster, LGBT 

people can't foster, under 30s can't foster, age limitations) 

 Improve the Fostering and Adoption website to make it easier to find information, be 
more appealing and competitive on line.  

 

    Proposed changes to the digital campaign work:  

4.5 The current Facebook Page covers both Adoption and Fostering. We are working 
towards creating a single account for Fostering only as users can get confused about 
our message if we talk about adoption and fostering on the same page, they are two 
very distinct topics. Also adoption appears to be a more attractive option when 
coupled with fostering and the messages around fostering is often diluted. 
Highlighted below are areas the service is currently working to improve targeted 
digital campaign work: 

 

 A Facebook campaign, that will target particular groups likely to be interested in 
fostering based on the pages that they liked. 

 To further target the right users at the right moment, the service is working on 
“Facebook and Google” ‘pixels’ for its website. This will allow for the for the 
messages to be resent to those that visited the service website on Facebook and 
who showed an interest in fostering. This allows for retargeting and converting 
curiosity into action through repeat messaging.   

 Creating a Twitter account will enable the service to reach users on different 
channels, as well as to interact with other important “actors” in Fostering who 
have access to a larger audience (The Fostering Network, The New Social 
Family etc.) This will increase our presence and profile as well as give us an 
opportunity to draw people to foster with us as an agency. This is particularly 
important as we move towards extending our recruitment outside of our normal 
area of operation.  
 

4.6 The service is also taking part in radio campaigns (Premier Christian Radio) starting 
in September. This radio has a strong following and reach into some communities 
like black and ethnic minority communities and a Christian audience. Additionally, the 
service has reiterated its messages in print media for example by placing 

Page 62



advertisements in “Keep The Faith Magazine” which targets the same communities 
thus reinforcing the message. 

 
     Some key learning points and challenges  

4.7   The service is working within an extremely competitive market for recruitment of  
   Foster Carers, particularly for children with complex needs. Highlighted below are the 

improvement areas the service is focused on to help reduce barriers to recruitment.  

 In 2016/17, Cornerstone did considerable work around raising the profile of 
fostering by undertaking mass campaigns. This did not lead to many 
conversions, highlighting that a higher number of enquiries doesn’t necessarily 
mean a higher number of approvals. The current recruitment strategy is now 
more targeted to groups of people that are suited to the needs of our LAC 
population and are more likely to become foster carers.  

 

 Given that most number of enquiries are generated online and through 
community events the service found that the most significant limitation is the lack 
of a brand image or logo that distinguishes the service from other providers or 
promotes the right messages about the service as a fostering agency.  For 
instance, the service doesn’t have a clear message, colour scheme or font and 
our unique strength (shared service between 3 councils) is not highlighted. Our 
branding compares less favourably to other local authorities who have their own 
fostering brand and logo. The Service has undertaken considerable work in this 
regard to redress this. Please see appendix 1 for details of the work undertaken 
in this regard.  

 

 There are on-going challenges with recruiting carers for children with particular 
needs. This includes finding placements for large sibling groups, disabled 
children and young people with offending behaviour. It has been difficult to 
identify sufficient carers within the Tri-Borough or surrounding areas who can 
meet these needs. This unmet need is unlikely to be a result of the lack of 
suitable housing resources alone; and is more linked to the capacity of the 
service to access potential carers with the right level of skills which in essence is 
a recruitment issue. Part of the marketing and recruitment plan is to ensure that 
we target a wide range of potential carers to meet the diverse needs of our 
children, including those from caring professions such as health care staff and 
members of staff across the Council who we would expect to be educated to a 
higher level but who also understand the needs of looked after children.  

 

 For many families who foster, the role requires at least one adult to be free to 
foster without the restrictions that full time employment may bring. Individuals 
and couples with at least one adult who has a flexible or part time work 
commitment are more likely to be able to provide the required levels of care 
needed. This has an impact on our aspirations to recruit carers from a broader 
range of professional backgrounds 

 
      Training and development to support the retention of foster carers  

4.8     Children’s Services Commissioning has continued to develop the programme of 
training with the aim of ensuring all carers are capable of delivering high quality 

Page 63



foster care to meet the needs of looked after children. Training is divided into the 
following types: 

 

 Bite sized training is a pilot training programme intended to develop foster 
carers further. The sessions have covered areas such as: positive discipline, 
managing conflict, identity and heritage in foster care, support and 
management of contact. A total of 16 training sessions were offered this year 
and had over 129 attendees.  

 Core Training - 40 training sessions were offered over the year. Topics covered 
include: promoting healthy relationships for children and young people, 
promoting resilience in foster children, working with UASC, managing and 
understanding transitions, assertive parenting, bridging the gap between home 
and school. The courses had over 245 attendees. Evaluation of the sessions 
showed ratings between good and excellent.  

 Systemic Training which will enable foster carers to implement a more 
engaging approach to work with families and to work with social workers in a 
more coordinated way. Five places were offered to foster carers this year.  

 
4.9     As well as a dedicated fostering training programme, carers also have links to other 

training such as those coordinated by the 3 Councils Local Safeguarding Children 
Board. Each carer is expected to attend the equivalent of three training events a 
year, some of which are compulsory.  

 
4.10   There has also been a number of initiatives to involve looked after children in the 

training of foster carers. This includes a care leaver delivering a session to new 
carers at the Skills to Foster course about their experiences of being fostered and 
their expectations of foster carers from a young person’s perspective. A training 
session on Diversity, Equality and Fostering is also delivered by a previously looked 
after young person. 
 

4.11   The content of the training program is informed by messages from LAC and Foster 
carer reviews as well as the Fostering Independent Reviewing Officers’ feedback 
which includes foster carers’ support and training needs and other areas for 
development.  

 
4.12   Foster carers have access to independent advice from the Fostering Network 

should they need it, support groups for carers, a handbook and access to a range 
of other professionals such as mental health practitioners, a Looked After Children’s 
Nurse, the virtual school and youth offending practitioners 
 

4.13    Supervision and support for carers is provided by supervising social workers in the 
Fostering – Duty Supervision and Support team. Each social worker has a caseload 
of up to 14 carers. The supervising social worker is expected to visit the carer on a 
6 weekly basis to ensure the quality of care provided to children but also to offer 
advice and support to carers as required. 
 

4.14   The Foster Carers’ Association continues to be in place providing additional support 
for carers across all three boroughs. 
 

          Innovations planned in 17/18 

Page 64



 Step down: Train and support foster carers so that they are able to take children 
with more complex behaviours that are currently placed in residential homes. This 
would help to improve the outcomes of children by maintaining “family style” 
placements and contribute to the 3 council’s savings agenda.  

 Develop a trading model or a business arm to the service which will see the service 
recruiting foster carers outside our current location with the view to providing 
placements to other local authorities at rate similar to that of the independent 
providers with the view to generating an income that could offset some of the 
placement costs. The service is currently providing 4 placements to 2 other local 
authorities.   

 Build and strengthen the dual approved and foster to adopt schemes. 

 The service has agreed to work with the Behaviour Insight Team to look at utilising 
behavioural science research into areas such as ‘network nudge’ communication, 
targeting people who are more likely to meet eligibility criteria and who are more 
likely to take on more challenging placements. This will also focus on working on a 
more effective communication style for involved in recruitment and direct work with 
foster carers.   

 
5.      EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 As this report is intended to provide an update on recent developments, there are 

no immediate equality implications. However, any equality issues will be highlighted 
in any subsequent substantive reports on any of the items which are requested by 
the Committee. 

 
6.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1.  As this report is intended to provide an update on recent developments, there are 

no immediate legal implications. However, any legal issues will be highlighted in 
any subsequent substantive reports on any of the items which are requested by the 
Committee. 

 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1.  As this report is intended to provide an update on recent developments, there 

are no immediate financial and resource implications. However, any financial and 
resource issues will be highlighted in any subsequent substantive reports on any of 
the items which are requested by the Committee. 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 
None. 
 

Page 65



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION POLICY & 
ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
11 September 2017 

 

 
 

WORK PROGRAMME 
 

Report of the Chair – Councillor Caroline Needham 
  

Open Report 
 

Classification: For information 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Sarah Thomas, Director for Delivery and Value 
 

Report Author: David Abbott,  
Scrutiny Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2063 
E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 The Committee is asked to review its work programme. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 The Committee is asked to review the proposed work programme and suggest 
changes or further items for consideration where appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
None. 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
Appendix 1 – Work Programme 

Page 66

Agenda Item 10

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


Updated 1 September 2017 

CEPAC Work Programme 2017-18 
 
 
13 November 2017      Report deadline: 30 October 

 Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 

 Child Protection Annual Report 
 
29 January 2018      Report deadline: 15 January 

 Children’s Services Budget Report 

 Looked After Children Annual Report 
 
12 March 2018      Report deadline: 26 February 

 School Performance 
 
23 April 2018      Report deadline: 9 April 

 School Organisation and Investment Strategy 
 
 
Requested Items 

 School Playground Safety 

 Update on the Arts Strategy (for young people) - arts in schools, links with 
local arts venues, activities for young people etc. 

 Troubled Families Phase 2 

 Family Learning 

 Schools Workload Kitemark – Explore the possibility of introducing a workload 
kite mark for schools - a scheme was running in Nottingham and was being 
trialled in Ealing – aimed at reducing the workload of teachers and improving 
recruitment and retention. 

 Placement Review (Commissioning) 

 Medical plans in schools - on the implementation and awareness of medical 
plans for young people. To include how plans are communicated internally 
and how incidents are recorded relating to such plans. How are medical 
conditions flagged to visiting staff - e.g. people running cycling proficiency. 

 Skills for young people - The Chair requested a further report on preparation 
for work, careers guidance, and career related opportunities. She asked that 
the Youth Council be consulted on the report and that the report author 
attended one of their meetings to listen to their concerns and ideas for 
improvements to the current offer. 

Page 67


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Director's Update
	7 Improving Transitions - Task Group Final Report
	Appendix 1 - Task Group Final Report

	8 Young People's Mental Health - Transformation Plan Update
	Appendix 1 - H&F and Hammersmith & Fulham CCG Implementation Plans

	9 Fostering and Adoption
	10 Work Programme
	Appendix 1 - CEPAC Work Programme 2017-18


